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1,400,000
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SHCOMP SZCOMP Chinext Index
China Indices in the Past 10 Years
(Data source:Bloomberg)
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Note: The Shanghai composite index uses the left vertical axis,
the Shenzthen composite index and chinext index use the right
vertical axis. The Chinext index dates fram June 30 2010,
2010 30
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AEOI
( IRD ) ( CAA )
AEOI
( )
IRD
() IRD
(if) ( )
(iii) IRD
IRD CAA
AEOI Ao ()
(ii)
(
( )
) IRD
ETF ETF
IRD (
)
AEOI ETF
()
() -
() -
QFlI RQFII [2014] 79
2014 11 17 A
WIT
2014 11 17 RQFII A
50
12
25
( IRD )
( HKTRC )
ETF HKTRC IRD ETF 2014 12
31 ETF HKTRC HKTRC

A
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RQFII 2015
g WIT
A
WIT ETF
ETF
ETF HKTRC
ETF
ETF e
2014 11 17
’ A ETF
WIT ETF 2014
11 14 ( ) )
ETF Wi
ETF A
ETF
ETF
ETF
(2020 19 )
)
10,767,996,376.23
(162,919,785,172 ) 99.06
101,980, 404.40
: (1,542,963,519 ) 0.94
10,869,976,780.63
( ) (164,462,748,691 ) 100
) ETF
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(2020 19 )
)
) 'S
(
)
-A
(PING AN
1 17,343,695 72.9 1,264,355,365.50 11.63
INSURANCE GROUP
C0-A)
-A
2 | (KWEICHOW  MOUTAI 832,346 1,346.11 1,120,429,274.06 10.31
CO LTD-A)
-A
3| (CHINA  MERCHANTS 22,151,496 34.27 759,131,767.92 6.98
BANK-A)
-A
4 | (WULIANGYE  YIBIN 3,313,892 151.42 501,789,526.64 4.62
CO LTD-A)
-A
5 | (GREE ELECTRIC 8,017,274 58.02 465,162,237.48 4.28
APPLIANCES 1-A)
-A
6 | (INDUSTRIAL  BANK 26,096,475 16.12 420,675,177.00 3.87
CO LTD-A)
-A
7 | (JIANGSU  HENGRUI 3,830,027 97.94 375,112,844.38 3.45
MEDICINE C-A)
-A
8 | (CITIC SECURITIES 14,639,958 23.21 339,793,425.18 3.13
C0-A)
-A
9 | (CHINA VANKE CO 12,181,833 26.13 318,311,296.29 2.93
LTD -A)
-A
10| (CHINA MINSHENG 52,089,923 5.8 302,121,553.40 2.78
BANKING-A)
A
11 27,093,606 10.35 280,418,822.10 2.58
(SHANGHAI PUDONG
DEVEL BANK-A)
-A
12 9,416,185 29 273,069,365.00 2.51
(INNER MONGOLIA
YILI INDUS-A)
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-A
13| (AGRICULTURAL 72,166,003 3.4 245,364,410.20 [ 2.26
BANK OF CHINA-A)
-A
14| (MIDEA GROUP CO 3,917,235 58.76 230,176,728.60 |  2.12
LTD-A)
-A
15| (IND & COMM BK OF 40,628,983 5.12 208,020,392.96 [ 1.91
CHINA-A)
-A
16| (PING AN BANK CO 15,353,263 13.36 205,119,593.68 [  1.89
LTD-A)
-A
17| (POLY REAL ESTATE 12,912,980 15.35 198,214,243.00 |  1.82
GROUP CO-A)
-A
(BANK OF
18 37,711,266 5.14 193,835,907.24 | 1.78
COMMUNICATIONS
C0-A)
-A
19| (ANHUI CONCH 3,256,527 59.4 193,437,703.80 |  1.78
CEMENT CO LTD-A)
-A
(LUXSHARE
20 3,762,120 46.86 176,292,943.20 |  1.62
PRECISION
INDUSTR-A)
-A
21 4,050,417 40.43 163,758,359.31|  1.51
(ZTE CORP-A)
-A
22| (CHINA STATE 31,635,397 5.12 161,973,232.64 |  1.49
CONSTRUCT ION-A)
-A
23| (HANGZHOU 5,329,407 30.35 161,747,502.45 |  1.49
HIKVISION
DIGITAL-A)
-A
24| (BOE  TECHNOLOGY 38,911,400 3.85 149,808,890.00 |  1.38
GROUP CO LT-A)
-A
25| (CHINA  PACIFIC 4,737,422 29 137,385,238.00 |  1.26
INSURANCE GR-A)
-A
26| (BANK OF  CHINA 39,704,353 3.46 137,377,061.38 |  1.26
LTD-A)
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27

-A
(CHINA
INTERNAT IONAL
TRAVEL-A)

1,469,494

89.4

131,372,763.60

1.21

28

-A
(MUYUAN  FOODSTUFF
€O LTD-A)

1,103,454

116.91

129,004,807.14

1.19

29

-A
(SHENZHEN ~ MINDRAY
BIO-MEDIC-A)

476,526

269.73

128,533,357.98

1.18

30

-A
(CHINA YANGTZE
POWER CO LTD-A)

7,460,765

17.02

126,982,220.30

1.17
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(2020 19 )

)

45.33

0.68

8.49

20.28

3.4

1.61

1.78

1.17

4.63

4.75

0.00

6.97

99.09
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2019 2020
( ) ) ( ) )
(012 12 31 ) 16,772,831,681.40 253,772,943,340 8.2890 125
(013 12 31 ) 20,863,824,165.00 315,669,659,616 7.1451 108
(014 12 31 ) 30,196,914,185.00 456,879,311,619 11.3972 172
(015 12 31 ) 18,331,141,985.70 277,350,178,244 10.6887 162
(2016 12 30 ) 17,192,698,141.40 260,125,522,879 9.9065 150
(017 12 29 ) 19,332,268,991.70 292,497,229,844 12.9313 196
(018 12 31 ) 15,699,621,057.39 237,535,266,598 10.0381 152
(019 12 31 ) 15,603,320,654.33 236,078,241,500 13.6931 207
2019 14,426,575,325.16 218,274,084,670 12.2675 186
2019 15,181,404,577.31 229,694,651,255 13.1783 199
2019 14,824,785,048.46 224,298,997,783 13.3137 201
2019 12,831,905,747.79 194,146,733,964 13.2083 200
2019 13,495,840,682.64 204,192,069,528 13.2702 201
2019 10 13,605,581,420.62 205,852,446,894 13.5717 205
2019 11 13,077,651,858.06 197,864,872,612 13.2701 201
2019 12 15,603,320,654.33 236,078,241,500 13.6931 207
2020 15,056,813,984.64 227,809,595,588 13.1214 199
2020 11,333,417,519.23 171,474,607,066 12.6630 192
2020 10,687,060,069.92 161,695,218,858 11.9810 181
2020 11,155,430,701.51 168,781,666,514 12.6983 192
2020 19 10,869,976,780.63 164,462,748,691 12.8033 194
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( )
( ) )
(012 12 31 ) 8.60 130
(2013 12 31 ) 7.14 108
(014 12 31 ) 11.08 168
(015 12 31 ) 10.58 160
(2016 12 30 ) 9-85 149
(017 12 29 ) 12.92 195
(018 12 31 ) 10.08 153
(019 12 31 ) 13.66 207
2019 12.20 185
2019 13.18 199
2019 13.32 202
2019 13.24 200
2019 13.26 201
2019 10 13.56 205
2019 11 13.24 200
2019 12 13.66 207
2020 12.20 185
2020 12.58 190
2020 12.00 182
2020 12.64 191
2020 19 12.76 193
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2012 23
2012 12 31 )

2013
2013 12 31 )

336,840,000.00

5,096,389,200

2014
2014 12 31 )

1,416,240,000.00

21,427,711,200

2015 413,750,000 6,260,037,500
2015 12 31 )
2016 473,310,000 7,161,180, 300
2016 12 31 )
2017 403,650,000 6,107,224,500
2017 12 31 )
2018 413,775,000 6,260,415,750
2018 12 31 )
2019 376,035,000 5,689,409, 550

2019 12 31 )
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CHC)

2012 23 2012 12 31 ) 13.39
2013 2013 12 31 ) -12.34
2014 2014 12 31 ) 63.41
2015 2015 12 31 ) ~4.03
2016 2016 12 31 ) ~4.79
2017 2017 12 31 ) 33.26
2018 2018 12 31 ) -20.29
2019 2019 12 31 ) 39.70
() () 100x(@ b) b

a ETF )

( )
) ) )

2012 23 2,023,500,000 0 2,023,500,000
2012 12 31 )
2013 1,070,000,000 173,500,000 2,920,000,000
2013 12 31 )
2014 2,877,500,000 3,148,000,000 2,649,500,000
2014 12 31 )
2015 2,564,500,000 3,499,000,000 1,715,000,000
2015 12 31 )
2016 1,121,000,000 1,100,500,000 1,735,500,000
2016 12 31 )
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( 2017 486,500,000 727,000,000 1,495,000,000
2017 12 31 )

( 2018 424,500,000 355,500,000 1,564,000,000
2018 12 31 )

(2019 239,500,000 664,000,000 1,139,500,000
2019 12 31 )

()

109/346



EDINETOOOO
OO00D0O00o0O00D0bDO000DO0Odnoo(E27318)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

( )
(
( )
(SEHK)
SEHK
SEHK
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( )
CCASS
( )
(i) (i)
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SEHK
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ETF
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JDR 2013 27
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ETF
ISIN
ISIN
(
ISIN)
82822 CSOP A50 ETF-R HK0000112307
02822 CSOP A50 ETF HK0000127412
ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF
CCASS
ETF
( )
ETF SEHK ETF SEHK

HKEx

FAQ(https://www.hkex.com.hk/Global/Exchange/FA Q/Featured/RM B-Readi ness-and- Services/Dual -Tranche-Dual -
Counter-Model ?sc_lang=en)

ETF

ETF

ETF

SEHK

KHSCC CCASS

() -

ETF
ETF
CCASS
(Renminbi Equity Trading Support Facility)( TSF )
TSF CCASS TSF
TSF ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF
ETF
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ETF
ETF ( 0.00005 )
ETF
ETF ETF
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CSOP FTSE AS50 ETF
CSOPETF
2019 12 31
20194 0154 IILE: 2 201%E
S AET AET FEH FEH
Wik
BERE
oh &l #E R TR SR HE M 133200 138320 20,937 216 0507 B16
EhEE
7 Fred Bra 15497 514 g9 15582325 704 234 47T AN 40T 235760 58T D02
F R FLE TETS 6yar 111,534 102 pay
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CSOP FISE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As i 31 December 2009
2019 218
Nates RMEB RME
ASSETS
MNON-CURRENT ASSETS
Deposit reserve 1,383,200 1.383,2
CURRENT ASSETS
Investments el fa)l 15497.514 898 15,582,325, 74
Imterest receivable 7375 6,787
Bank balances el 121,318,541 136222741
15,618,840, 314 15,718,555,232
Total assels 15.620,224.014 15719938432
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Mamagement fee payvable Flal 12,076,568 13383339
Trustee fee payable Tk 487,942 340,741
License fee payable 3421534 7,108,826
Ciher accounts payable 916,694 726,804
Total liabilities 16902, 738 21759710
EQUITY
Net assets attributable to unitholders 4 15,603,321,276 15.698.178,722

The financial statements on pages 9 to 29 were approved by the Tmstee and the Manager on 27 Apnl 2020 and were
signed on their behalf.

For and on behal f of For and on behalf of

CHOP Aszer Management Limited HEBC Institutional Trost Services (Asia) Limited
a5 the Manager as the Tmstes

The accempanying notes form an integral part of these financial statemenis,

&
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CSOF FISE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 Dece mber 20409

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 018
Notes RME RAME
INCOME
Dvidend income 423,182,021 374,786,899
Interest income Tie) 840,750 616,279
et gain/{loss) on investments 3 5, 290,006,769 (3,538.491.346)
Other income 11449 952 34,940,701
Total net income/{loss) 5,725479.492 (3,123,147 467)
EXFENSES
Management fee Fra (156,109, 1447 (151.041,314)
Trustee fee 7ih (6,307,440} (12,909,111}
Transaction costs on investments (33.940.684) (23,393.914)
Andit fee {1.015,986) {740.420)
Safe custody amd bank charges (4,100,831 ) (1L.119.874)
Legal and other professional fee (417.655) (443,587)
License fee (15,867,275) (15,911,091
Other operating expenses (1,872,922) (613,758)
Total operating ¢x penses (219,631.937) (206,173.069)
Operating profit/(loss) 5,505,847 555 (3,334,320,536)
Taxatiom & (42.482.001) (37.571.176)
Total comprehensive income'(loss) 5,463,365,554 (3,371,891,712)

The accompanving notes form an infegral part of these fimancial staie ments,

1o
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CSOF FISE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS
For the year ended 31 Dece mber 2009

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
Nate RAE RME
Met assets altributable to wmtholders at the beginning
of the yvear 15.698,178,722 19.305,132,834
Proceeds on issue of units 3,244,967, 300 4,737,783,550
Payments on redemption of units (8427155, 300) (4,559,070,950)
Met (decrease)increase from unit transactions (5, 182,188,000) 178,712,600
Distribition to unitholders 9 (376,035,000) (413,775,000)
Total comprehensive income{(loss) for the year 5,463,365,554 (3.371,891.712)
Met assels attributabie o unithol ders at the end of
the year 15,603,321,276 15.698,178,722

The accompanying noles form an f:.urg:rm' part of these ﬁ:ra.rrc;'af stedle menis.,
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CSOF FISE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2009

OFERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments for purchase of investments
Proceeds from sale of investments
Dividend income received

Innerest income received

Other income received

Management fee paid

Trustee fee paid

Transaction costs paid

Taxation paid

Other operating expenses pad

Net cash generated from operating activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds on is=ue of units

Payments on redemption of units
Distribution paid

Net cash nsed in financng activities

Met (decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances

Year ended
31 December
2019

RME

(5.663,051,208)

Year ended
31 December
018

RAME

(8,092,592,048)

14,037,868,783 8.289.170,128
423,182,021 374,786,899
840,162 611,935
11,449,952 34,940,701
(157,415,915) (154,331,325)
(6.360,239) (13,831,218)
(33,940,684) (23,393.914)
(42,482,001} {37,571,176)
(26,772,071) {17,341,220)
5,543,318.800 360,448,762
3,244,967,300 4,737.783,550

(8,427,155,300)
(376,035.,000)

(4.584,837.016)
(413,775,000}

(5,558.223.000)

(260,828 466)

(14,904,200) 99,620,296
136,222,741 36,602,445
121,318,541 136,222,741
121,318,541 136,222,741

The accompanying notes form an infegral part of these financial state ments.
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CHOP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

CSOP ETF Senes (the “Trost™) 15 an wmbrella umt trust governed by ats trust deed dated 25 July 20102, as
amended, (the “Trst Deed™) and suthorsed by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the
“BFCT) pursnant to Section 1041} of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The terms of the Trust Deed are
govemed by the laws of Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2019, the Trust has six sub-funds which are CS0OP
FTSE Chana A50 ETF (the *Sub-Fund™), CSOP 525E ChiNext ETF, CSOP MSCI China A Inclusion Index
ETF, ICBC CSOP S&P New China Sectors ETF, CSOP Hong Kong Dollar Money Market ETF and CSOP
US Dollar Money Market ETF. CSOP CES China A80 ETF and CSOP China CSI 300 Smart ETF were
termunated on 31 May 2019 and 27 December 2019 mspectively. CSOP US Dollar Money Market ETF and
CSOP CSI 500 ETF were launched on 23 Jammary 2019 and 18 March 2020 respectively. The date of
inception of the Sub-Fund was 23 August 2012, The Sub-Fumd is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. CSOP Asset Management Limited, the manager of the Sub-Fund, applied and obtained approval to
list Japan Depository Receipt (“JDR" ) which represents units of the Sub-Fund on the Tokyo Stock Exchange
{“TSE" ). The JDR which represents units of the SubJFund was listed on the TSE on 27 Febrary 2013.

The manager and the trustee of the Sub-Fund are CSOP Asset Management Limited (the “Manager” ) and
HSBC Institwtional Trust Services { Asia) Limited (the “Trustee” ) respectively.

The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to provide investment resulis that, before deduction of fees and
expenses, closely comespond to the performance of the underlying index, namely, FTSE China AS0 Index {the
“Undedying Index”). In order to achieve the investment objective of the Sub-Fund, the Manager will adopt a
full replication strategy by directly investing all, or substantially all, of the assets of the Sub-Fund in index
securities constituting the Underlying Index in substantially the same weightings (ie. proportions) as these
index securities have in the Underlying Index. The Manager may also use a representafive sampling strategy
in exceptional circumstances,

The Sub-Fumnd has been using FTSE China A50 net total retum index a8 its undarlyving index.

Under cumrent regulations in the People’s Republic of China ("PRC™), generally foreign mvestons can invest in
the domestic securities market throngh centain qualified foreign institutional investors that have obtained
status a5 a Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor (“QFIT) or a Renminbi Qualified Foreign Institutional
Investor ("ROFIN Y from the China Securities Regulatory Commussion ("CSRC™) and have been granted
quotals) by the State Admimstration of Foreign Exchange ("SAFE™) of the PRC to remit foreign freely
comvertible currencies (in the case of a QFII) and Chinese Renminbi (“RMBE™) (in the caze of a RQFI) into
the PRC for the purpose of investing in the PRC's domestic securities markets, Foreign investors can also
invest in the domestic secunbies market through Shanghai/Shenzhen — Hong Kong Stock Connect Program
(“Stock Connect™).

The Sub-Fund obtaing exposure 1o securities issued within the PRC through the ROFIL quetas of the Manager
and Stock Connect. The Manager has obtained ROQFIL status in the PRC and the ROFII quotas have been
granied, on behalf of the Sub-Fund. To the extent that the Manager has, on behalf of the Sub-Fund, utilised its
entire ROFII quota, the Manager may, subject to any applicable requirements, apply for an increase of the
ROFIT quota. On the other hand, the Manager actively manages the ROFII quota obtained and may impose
limits on creation applications as it considers appropriate.

These financial statements are prepared for the Sub-Fund only. The financial statements for CSOP SZSE

ChiMext ETF, CSCP MSCI China A Inclusion Index ETF, ICBC C30P S&P New China Sectors ETF, C30P
Hong Kong Dollar Money Market ETF and CSOP US Dollar Money Market ETF have been prepared

separately.
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CHOFP FITSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The poncipal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these fnancial datements are sel oul below,
These policies have been consistently applied to all the vears presented, unless otherwise stated,

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Sub-Fund have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HEFRS™) 1ssued by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerdified Public Accountanis
("HKICPA”"). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of investments at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the Trustee and the Manager (together the “Management™) to
exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Sub-Fund's accounting policies. The areas
invelving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
sigmificant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective | January 2019

There are no standards, amendments o sandards or interpretations that are effective for anmal
periods beginning on | January 201% that have a material effect on the financial statements of the Sub-
Fund.

Mew standards and amendments to standards effective afier | Jannary 2019 that are relevamt (o the
Sub-Fund but are not vet effective and have noi been eafy adopted by the Sub-Fund

A& number of new standards, amendments to standands and interpretations are effective for annual
pericds beginning after | January 2019, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial
statements. None of these are expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Sub-
Fund.

(b} Investments
i) Classification

The Sub-Fund classifies its investments based on both the Sub-Fund's business model for
managing those financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets, The portfolio of financial assets 18 managed and performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, The Sub-Fund is primanly focused on fair value information and uses that
information to assess the assets” performance and (o make decisions. The Sub-Fund has not
taken the option fo irrevocably designale any equily securities as fair value through other
comprehensive income, Consequently, all investments are measured at fair value through
profit or loss,

{11} Recogmhon/derecogmtion
Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for on the trade date basis - the date on
which the Sub-Fund commmits to porchase or sell the mvesments, Investments are

derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the
Sub-Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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CHOFP FITSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

(<)

Investments (Continned)
(1ii) Measurement

Investments are initially recogmsed at far value. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent o imtial recogmition, all mvedments are measuréd at fair value, Realised and
unrealised gains and losses on investments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income in the year in which they arise.

(1v) Fair value estimation

Fair valug is the price that would be received (o sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market patticipants at the measurement date. The Fair value of
financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and
trading securities) are based on quoted market prices al the close of (rading on the reporting
date. The Sub-Fund wiilizes the last traded market price for both listed financial assets and
liabilities where the last traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. In circumstances where
the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, the Management will determine the point
within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value.

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter denvatives) is determined by ueing broker quotes or valuation techmgues.

(v Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

Transfers between levels of the For value lierarchy are deemed o have occurred at the
beginming of the reporting period.

(vi) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the met amount reported in the statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable nght to offset the recogmised amounts
and there is an intention to setile on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the labality
simultaneonsly. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on futwre events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of defaull, insolvency or
bankmptey of the company or the counterparnty.

Amounts due from participating dealers'brokers

Amounts due from participating dealers represent the subscription receivable from the participating
dealers at the end of the reporting year. The amounts are non-inferest bearing and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from brokers represent receivables for secunties sold that have been contracted for bt
not yvet settled on the statement of financial position date.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(<) Amounts due from parficipating dealers'brokers (Continued)

These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. At
each reponing date, the Sub-Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from panticipating,
dealersbrokers at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If, at the reporting date, the credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition. the Sub-Fund shall measure the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month expected credit losses. Sigmificant financial difficulties of the paticipating
dealers'brokers, probability that the participating dealers'brokers will enter bankruptcy or financial

recrganisation, and default in payments are all considered indicators that a loss allowance may be
required. IF the credit risk increases to the point that it is considered to be credit impaired, interest
income will be calculated based on the gross camying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. A
significant increase in credit risk is defined by Management as any contractual payment which is more
than 30 days past due. Any comtractoal payment which is more than 90 days past due is considered
credit impained.

(dy Amounts due to particdpating dealers'brokers

Amounts due to participating dealers represent the redemption payable to the paticipating dealers at
the end of the reporting vear. The amounts are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to brokers represent payables for secunities purchased that have been contracted for but
not yet delivered on the statement of financial position date.

These amounts are recogmsed matially & far value and subsequently measured al amortised cost,
(e} Dividend income and interest income

Dividend income 15 recorded on the ex-dividend date wath the comesponding foreign withholding taxes
recorded as an expense.

[nterest income 15 recogmsed on alime-proportionate basis using the effectivie imerest method,

n Distributions to unitholders
Distributions to unitholders are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets attributable to
unitholders when they are approved by the Manager. Distributions to unitholders are recognised as
distributions in the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders,

(g Other Income’ expense

Other income/expense mainly represents the difference between the proceeds received frompaid to
participating dealers and cost of investment purchased/sold,

(h} Transactions cosis
Transactions costs are costs incurred to acquire/dispose financial assets or liabilities al fair valoe
throngh profit or loss. They inchade fees amd commissions paid to agents, brokers amd dealers.

Transactions costs, when incwred, are ymmediately recogmised in the datement of comprehensive
INCOME A5 AN exXpense.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.,
() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash at bank, demand deposits, other shorm-term
highly bgud investments with onginal maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts,

(k) Foreign currencies translation

Funetional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the curency of the primary economic
enviromiment in Which the Sub-Fund operates (the “ functional curmency™ ), The Sub-Fund invests in A-
Shares in the PRC and the performance of the Sub-Fund is measured and reported to the unitholders in
EME. The Manager considers Renminbi as the currency that most faithfully represents the economuic
effects of the underdying transactions, events and conditions, The financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Sub-Fund's functional and presentation cumency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency (ransactions are translated into the functional currency wsing, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency assets and labalities are translated into the
functional cumency using the exchange rate prevaling at the reporing date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses ansing from translation are included in the statement of
comprehensive meome,

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value
through profit or loss are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within *net gain/{loss)
on mvestments”,

n Redeemable units

The Sub-Fund issues redeemable units, which are redeemable at the holder's option. These wnits
represent puitable financial instroments of the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund classifies its puttable financial
instrumernts as equity in asccordance with HKAS 32 {Amendment), “Financial instruments:
Presentation”™ as those puttable financial instruments meet all the following criteria:

« the puttable financial instruments entitle the holder 1o a pro-rata share of net asset value,

+ the putable financial instruments are the most subordinated units in issne and unit features are
identical;

+ (here are no contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset; amd

o the total expected cash flows from the puttable financial instrument over its life are based
substantially on the profit or loss of the Sub-Fund.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(1) Redeemable uniits (Continued)

Units are issued and redeemed at the holder's option at prices based on the Sub-Fund's net asset value
per unit at the time of issue or redemption. The Sub-Fund's net asset value per unit is calenlated by
dividing the net assets attnbutable to unitholders with the total number of ontstanding units,

In accordance with the Prospectus of the Sub-Fund, investment positions are valued based on the last
traded market price for the purpose of determining the net asset value per unit for subscriptions and
redemptions of the Sub-Fund.

{m}  Taxation

The Sub-Fund currently incurs withholding taxes imposed by PRC on investment income. Such
income 15 recorded gross of withholding taxes in the statement of comprehensive income,
Withholding taxes are included as taxation in the statement of comprehensive income.

Dreferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences ansing between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carying amounts in the financial stalements. However,
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or lability
in a transaction that af the time of the ransaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that kave been enacted or substantively
enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected (o apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the defemred income tax liability is settled.

Defermred income tax assels are recogmsed (o the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be mvailable against which the temporary differences can be utilised,

Defermred income tax assets and habalities are offset when there 15 a legally enforceable nght 1o offset
curment tax assels against cwment tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation anthority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis,

(m) Establishment costs

Establishiment costs are recogmised as an expense in the vear in which they are incurmed.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUNMPTIONS

The Manager makes estimates and assumptions concerning the fiture. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results, Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant fsk of causing a

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the nest financial yvear are outlined
below.

In preparing these financial statements, the Manager has made certain assumptions and wsed vardous estimates
conceming the fair value of the secunties that are suspended from trading which is dependent on what moght
happen in the fiuture. The resulting accounting estimates may not equal the related actual resulis.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)
Falr value of securities that are suspended from frading

As at 31 December 2018, there were listed equities which have been suspended for trading mainly due to
business restructuring. Management wsed its judgment in determining the fair values of these investments and
involved a higher degree of subjectivity. Management judgment in determining the fair values of the
suspended imvestments inclndes factors such as the duration of suspension period, the relevamt market
information and news of the suspended listed equities, the price movement of comparable listed equities/index
dunng the suspension penod and, if applicable. the market prices of the suspended listed equities upon
resumption of trading atter vear end.

Ag at 31 December 2018, the Sub-Fund held one listed equity of RMBA48,585, 791, representing 2.86% of the
net asset value of the Sub-Fund, which was suspended for trading and classified as level 2. Such suspended
investment held by the Sub-Fund has resumed trading subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2018,
Having considered the factors mentioned above, Management decided to use the latest available price before
suspenaon as the fair value of such suspended investment as at 31 December 2018, Refer to Note 8(d).

Agat 31 December 2019, there was no investment held by the Sub-Fund which has been suspended for trading.

NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISS5UE AND NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS PER
UMIT

The Sub-Fund's capital is represented by the units in the Sub-Fund, and shown as “net assets attributable to
unitholders™ in the gatement of financial position. Subscriptions and redemptions of wnits during the vear are
showm in the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders. In order 1o achieve the investment
obpectives, the Sub-Fund endeavors to invest s capital in accordance with the investment policies, whalst
maintaining sufficient liquidity (o meet redemption requests,

In accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed dated 25 July 2012, a5 amended, and the Prospecius of the
Sub-Fund, investments are stated 2t the last traded price on the valuation day for the parpose of determiming
net asset value per unit for subscriptions and redemptions and for varous fee calculations.

Ag stated in Note 201}, redeemable units of the Sub-Fund are classified as equity and they are camed at the

price based on the Sub-Fund’s net asset value per unit at the reporting date if the unitholder exercized the riglht
to redeem the units in the Sub-Fund
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE AND NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS PER
UNIT (Continued}

The movements of the redeemable units for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

2019 2018
Umnits Units
Number of units in issue at the beginning of the year 1. 564, 000 000 1495000, 000
Units issned 239 500 000 424,500,000
Unitz redeemed (664, 000, (100} (355,500,000}
Number of units in izsue at the end of the year 1.139,500,000 1,564, 000,000
2019 2018
RME ;N
Met assets annbuiable to unitholders per unit as . 31
Deecember
iper statement of financial position) 136931 10,0372
NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON INVESTMENTS
2019 2018
RME RME
Met change in unrealised gaindoss in valee of mvestments 3,359,721,636 (4,131,134,85T)
Net realised gain on sale of investments 1.930,285,133 592,643,511

5.290,006,769

(3,538,491,346)

TAXATION

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the Sub-Fund as it is authorizsed as a collective
invedment scheme under Section 104 of the Hong Kong Securnities and Futures Ordinance and is therefore
exempt from profits tax under Section 26 A(1 A ) of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance.

PR tax

The Sub-Fund invests in A-Shares listed in the PRC and is subjected to 10% withholding tax on dividend
income derived from A-Shares. Withholding tax was charged on dividend income received from A-Shares
during the vears ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,

The taxation of the Sub-Fund for the vears ended 31 December 201% and 2018 represents:

2019 2015
RME RME
Withholding tax on dividend income 42443177 37,550,526
Withholding tax on interest income 38,824 200650
Taxation 42482001 37,571,176
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND CONNECTED PERSONS

The following 15 a summary of sigmficant related pary transactions and transactions entered into during the
year between the Sub-Fund and the Trestee, the Manager and the Comnected Persons of the Manager.
Connected Persons of the Manager are those as defined in the Code on Urdl Trusts and Mutual Funds
established by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC Code™). All transactions
entered into during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, between the Sub-Fund and the Manager and
ite Connected Persons were carried out in the normal course of business and on normal commercial terms. To
the best of the Minager™s knowledge, the Sub-Fund does not have any other transactions with the Cormmected
Persons of the Manager except for those disclozed below.

(1) Management Tee

The Manager is entitled to receive a management fee, currently at the rate of 0.99% per annum of the
net assed value of the Sub-Fund accrued daily and caleonlated as at each dealing day and pavable
monthly in arrears,

() Trustee lee and Registirar’s fee

The Trustee is entitled to receive a trstee fee of up (o 1% per annum of the net assed value of the Sub-
Fund, which sccrued daily and caleulated as a2 each dealing day and payable monthly in arrears. For
the period from 1 Jannary 2018 to 30 Movember 2018, the trustee fee was calculated as a percentage
per annum of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund at the rate as follows, subject to a monthly minimuom
of RMBA40,000;

Poor to 1 December 2001 8:

Trstee fee percentage per annum

For first RMB200 million 0. 16%
For next RMEB 1,000 million 0.14%
For next RME 1,000 million 0,12%
For next RhE 1,000 million 0. 10%:
Thereatter 0,08%

Effective from 1 December 2018, the trustee fee iz calculated at the rate up to 0.08% per annum of the
net asset value of the Sub-Fund.

The Trustee fee is inclusive of fees payable to The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited (the “Custodian™) and HSBC Bank (China) Compary Limited (the “PRC Custodian™).

The Trustee, acting as the Regisrar, is also entitled to a fee of RMB 120 per participating dealer per
transzction for the period from 1 January 2018 to 30 November 2018, Effective from | December
2018, the Trustee is entitled to a fee of RME 100 per paticipating dealer per transaction.

The Trustee shall also be entitled to be reimbursed from the Sub-Fund for all out-of-pocket expenses
menered,
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
THANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND CONNECTED PERSONS (Continued)
(<) Financial assets

The investments and bank balances of the Sub-Fund held with related parties of the Trudee are;

2019 2018
RMEB RME
Investments
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 12,622,214.674 13,147,055,563
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 2,875,300,224 2.435270,141
15497514, 898 15,582,325,704
Bank balances
The Honglkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited 89,544,243 86,356,792
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 31,774,298 49,865,949
121,318,541 136,222,741
Deposit reserve
HSBC Bank {China) Company Limited 1,383,200 1,383,200

Interest income amounted to RMB240,750 was earned on these bank balances and deposit reserve for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB616.279),

Dhring the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Fund invested in Huatai Securities Co
Ltd, 2 connected person of the Manager,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The objective of the Sub-Fund is to provide investment results that, before deduction of fees and expenses,
closely correspond to the performance of the FTSE China AS0 Index. The Sub-Fund's activities may expose it
1o a variety of risks including bat not limited to market risk (including market price risk, interest rate risk and
currency risk), credit and counterparty risk and liquidity risk which are associated with the matkets in which
the Sub-Fund invests.

The following 15 a summary of the man nsks and nsk management policies.
(a) Market risk
(1} Market price risk

Market price nisk 15 the risk that the value of a financial instraoment will fluctoate as a resull of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from inferest rate nsk or curency nsk), whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all
instrumernts in the market,
The Sub-Fund is designated to track the performance of the FTSE China AS0 Index, therefore the
exposures to market nsk in the Sub-Fund will be substantially the same as the tracked index. The
Manager manages the Sub-Fund's exposures to market risk by ensuring that the key characteristics

of the portfolio, such as secunty weight and industry weight, are closely aligned with the
characteristics of the tracked index.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Market price risk (Continued)

As at 31 December, the Sub-Fund’s investments were concentrated in the following industies:

2019 2018
%a of net %5 of net
Fairvalue  asset value Fair value asset value
RME RMEB
Listed equities in PRC - by
industry

Basic materials 94,150,582 .60 251,191,126 1.60
Consumer goods 4,022,500,080 2578 3.279491,218 20,39
Consumer services 181,100,866 1.16 - -
Financials 3.745.290.44] 56.05 8,501,148, 790 60,52
Health care 585.416,264 375 322042179 2.05
Industrials 1,130,418,192 7.24 1.534,072,192 977
Ol & gas 188,821,650 1.21 279175429 1.78
Technology 243,190,388 1.56 46,706,158 0,30
Telecommunications 116,879,788 0.75 141,804,657 0.5
Utilities 1840 746,647 122 226,693 955 145
15497,514,898 00 32 15,582,325,704 99 26

The Sub-Fund held 50 out of 30 (2008; 50 ont of 50) constituent securities comprsing the FTSE
China AS50 Index. The Sub-Fund is therefore exposed to substantially the ssme market price risk as
the FTSE China AS0 Index.

Sensitivity analvzis in the event of a possible change in the index as estimated by the Manager

Asat 31 December 2019 and 2018, ifthe FTSE China AS0 Index were to increase by 25% (2018:
10%a) with all other variables held constant, this would increase the operating profit for the year by
approximately RMB3,737,309 260 (2018: RMB 1,588 417,089). Conversely, if the FTSE China
ASD Index were to decrease by 25% (2018: 109¢), this would decrease the operating profit for the
wiear by am equal amount,

(ii} Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk anses from the effects of fuctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on the fair value of financial assets and liabilities and fisture cash flow,

As @ 31 December 2019 and 2008, mierest rate nsk anses only from bank balances. As the bank
balances held by the Sub-Fund is short term in nature and interest ansing from these interest
bearing assets are immatenal, the Manager considers that changes in their fair value and fture
cash flows m the event of a change in market interest rates will not be matenal. As a resull, the
Manager considers sensitivity analysis of interest rate nisk 15 not necessary to be presented.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT {Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(fii) Currency risk

Currency nisk s the sk that the value of fimancial instruments will fnctuate doe to changes in
foreign exchange rates, The Sub-Fund is not exposed o comency risk ansing from balances and
transactions in foreign cumrencies as the majority of s assets and liabilities are denominated in
EME, the Sub-Fund's functional and presentation currency. As a result, the Manager considers
sensitiviy analysis of cumency nisk is not necessary o be presented.

(b Credit and counterparty risk

Credit and counterparty risk is the risk that an issuer of counterparty will be unable or unwilling to
meet a commitment that it has entered into with the Sab-Fund.

The Sub-Fund limits its ex to credit and counterparty risk by camying owt the majority of its
investmenl (ransaclions contractual commitment activities with well-established broker«dealers,
banks and regulated exchanges with high credit ratings.

Al transactions in listed securities are settled or paid for upon delivery nsing approved amd reputable
brokers. In addition, the Sub-Fund places bank balances with reputable fimancial institutions. Az such,
the Manager does not consider the Sub-Fund to be exposed to significant credit and counterparty risk.

Az at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Fund placed bank balances of RMBS9,544,243 (2013:
REMEBS6,356,792) and investments of RMB12,622,214,674 (20183: RMEB13,147,055,563) with The
Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited (*HSBC™), which is the eustodian of the Sub.-
Fund, The 5&P credit rating of HSBC 1= A (2018; A).

As at 31 December 20019 and 2018, the Sub-Fund placed bank balances of RMB31,774,298 (2018:
EMB49.865. 949, deposit reserve of EMBI,383.200 (2018 EMBL383.2000 and investments of
RMB2,875,300,224 (2018: RMB2.435,270.141) with HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited ("HSBC
China™), which is the PRC custodian of the Sub-Fund, The Moody's credit rating of HSBC China is
Al(2018: Al).

The Sub-Fund measures credit risk and expected credit 1osses using probability of defaull, exposure at
default and loss given defanlt. Management consider both historical analysis and forward looking
information in determining any expected credit loss. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, deposit
reserve, interest receivables and bank balances are held with connterparties with high credit ratings and
are due to be settled within 1 momh. Management consider the probability of default to be cloge to
zero as the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the near term.
Ag a result, no loss allowance has been recognised based on 12-month expected credit losses as any
such impairment would be wholly insigmnificant to the Sub-Fund.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is the carrying amount of the
financial as=zets as shown on the statement of financial position.

() Licuidity risk

Liquidity risk is the nisk that the Sub-Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to
gettle its obligations in full a= they fall due or can only do so on temms that are matenally
disadvantageons.

The Sub-Fund is exposed to daily redemptions of units in the Sub-Fund, The Sub-Fund invests the
majonty of 1S assets i securities that are traded in an active market which can be readily disposed of.
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(<) Liquidity risk {(Continued)
The table below analyses the Sub-Fund's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining pericd at the reponting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are

the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances doe within 12 months equal their carrying balances,
as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Lessthan 1 month to less Owver
1 month  than 3 months 3 months Total
RAME RME RME RME
As at 31 December 2019
Management fee payable 12,076,568 - - 12,076,568
Trustee fee payable 487,942 - - 487,042
License fee payable - 342154 - 342154
Other accounts payable 16,000 2000 895,684 916,694
Contractual cash outflow 12,580,520 342353 808 684 16,502,738
As at 3 December 2018
Management fee payable 13,383,339 - - 13,353,339
Trustee fee payable 540,741 - - 540,741
License fee pavable - 7,108,826 - 7. 108,826
Other accounts payable - 87,980 638,324 726,804
Contraciual cash outflow 13,924,080 7, 196,806 635,824 21,759,710
| | - -4

Units are redeemed on demand at the unitholder’s option. As at 31 December 2019, there was 1 (2018:
1 yunitholder holding more than 10% of the Sub-Fund's units, representing in aggregate 31.82% (2015
28.64%) of the total Sub-Fund's units,

The Sub-Fund manages its Hguidity risk by investing in securities that it expects to be able to liquidate
within 7 days or less. The following table illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held:

Less than 1to 12 Mo stated
1 month months Aty Total
RAE RAE RME RME
As at 31 December 20019
Total assets 15618833430 7375 1,383,200 15,620,224,014
As at 31 December 2018
Total assets 15. 718,548,445 6,787 1,383,200 15,719.938,432
25
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOFP ETF SERIES)

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
() Fair value estimation

The Sub-Fund classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
signi ficance of the inputs vsed in making the measurements, The faor value hierarchy has the following
levels:

s  Cuoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Sub-Fund can
access at the megsurement date (level 1).

+ Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is. derived from prices) {level 2).

* Inputs for the assel or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is. unobservable
inputs) {level 3),

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its
entirety 15 determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is sigmificant 1o the far value
measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair
value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement nses obzenvable inputs that require
gigmificant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement 15 a level 3 measurement.
Aszessing, the significance of a pamicular input to the fair value measurement in its entitety requires
judzment, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constities “observable” requines significant judzment by the Sub-Fund,
The Sub-Fund considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly
distibuted or updated, reliable and venfiable, not proprictary, and provided by independent sources
that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The following table analyses within the fair value hieranchy the Sub-Fund's fnancial assets (by class)
measured at fair vaoe at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Leviel 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Tatal
RME RME RAMB RME

As at M December 2019
Assels
[nvestments
- Equity securities 15.497.514,898 & + 15.497.514,898
Total assels 15.497.514,398 - - 15,497,514,898
As at 31 December 2018
Assels
Investments
- Equuty securities 15133732913 448,585,791 - 15.582,325.704
Total assels 15,133,739.213 448,585,791 - 15,582,325,704

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets. and therefore classified
within level 1, include active listed equities. The Sub-Fund does not adjust the quoted price for these
instrimeris,
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
() Fair value estimation {Conti nued)

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued baged on
quoted market prices, dealer quodations or allemative pricing sources supported by observable inputs
are classified within level 2. Management has used best estimation and assessed all available
information and considers that the last traded price was the best estimation of the fair value of level 2
investments as al 31 December 2018,

Az oat 31 December 2018, ome listed equity investmernt held by the Sub-Fund amounted to
RMBA4S,585, 791, representing 2.86% of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund. was suspended for
trading dug to busingss restructuning amd was classified as level 20 Such investment has resumed
irading subsequent to the vear ended 31 December 2018,

Asal 31 December 2019, there was no investment held by the Sub-Fund which has been suspended for
trading.

Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, a5 they trade infrequently
or do not trade. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Fund did not held any investments
classified in level 3,

Doaring the vear ended 31 December 2019, the suspended equity investment of RMB448, 585,791 has
been transferred from level 2 to level 1 related io the secunty which was suspended for trading as at 31
December 2018 and has resumed trading during the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the suspended equity investment of RMB448, 585 791 was
transferred from level 1 1o level 2 and classified as level 2 investmenis,

Transfer between levels of the far value lnerarchy are deemed to have oceurred at the beginming of the
reporting year.

The assets and Labilities included in the statement of financial position, other than investments, are
carried at amortised cost. The carrying value of these financial assets and liabilities are considered by
the Manager to approximate their fair value as they are short ferm in natare and the effect of
discounting i immaterial, There are no other assets and liabilities not camied at Fair value ot For
which fair value 15 disclosed.

(€) Capital risk management

The Sub-Fund’s capital is represented by the redeemable units outstanding. The Sub-Fund's objective
is to provide investment results that comrespond generally to the performance of the respective index.

The Manager may:

o Redeem and issue new units on a daily basis m accordance with the constitutive documents of the
Sub-Fund;

+  Exercise discretion when determining the amount of distnbutions of the Sub-Fund to the
unitholders; and

o Spspend the creation and redemption of s under cenain circumstance as currently disclosed in
the Prospectus of the Sub-Fund,
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DISTRIBUTION
2019 2018
RME RME
Final distribution
BMBO.33 per it on 1,139, 500,000 units 376,035,000 A13.775,000

{2018: RMBO0.27 per unit on 1,532,500,000 units)

The final distribution of RMBO.33 (2018 RMBO.27) per wmit on 1,139.500,000 (2018 1.532.500,000} units
outstanding on the ex-dividend date 20 December 2019 (2018: 14 December 2018} was paid on 30 December
2019 (2018: 27 December 2018},

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Ag of 31 December 2019 and 2008, other than investments as disclosed in the financial statements which are
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, all financial assets including deposit reserve,
interest receivable and bank balances are categorised as and camied at amortised cost. All the financial
liabilities of the Sub-Fund are carried at amontised cost.

INVESTMENT LIMITATION AND PROHIBITIONS UNDER THE 8FC CODE

The SFC Code allows the Sub-Fund to invest in constituent securities issued by a single issuer for more than
1% of the Sub-Fund's net asset value provided that the investment is limited to any constituent securities that
each accounts for more than 1020 of the weighting of the Index and the Sub-Fund's holding of any such
constituent securities may not exceed their respective weightings in the Index {except as a result of changes in
the composition of the Index and the excess 15 transitional and temporary in mature),

The Manager and the Trustee have confirmed that the Sub-Fund has complied with this limit during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,

There was one constituent security (2018: 1) that individually accounted for more than 10% of the net asset
valwe of the Sub-Fund and their respective weightings of the FTSE China AS0 Index as at 31 December 2009

and 2018,
Weishting
i the Index (%a] %o of net i value
2019 2018 2019 2018
PING AN INSURANCE (GROUPY CO OF CHINA
LTI A SHR ORD CWNY'L 13.16 11.91 1260 11.50

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the FTSE China A50 Net Total Retum Index increased by 42.12%
(2018: decreased by 19 36%) while the net asset valne per unit of the Sub-Fund increased by 36 42%: (2018:
decreased by 22.27%).
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CHOFP FTSE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SOFT COMMISSION ARRANGEMENTS

The Manager has entered into soft commission arangements for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
with some brokers under which certain goods and services used to suppont investment decision making are
obtained from third parties and are paid for by the brokers in consideration of transactions of the Sub-Fund
directed to the brokers. These may include, for example, research and advisory services; economic and
political amalysis;, portfolio analyas, incloding valuation and performance measurement, markel analyas, data
and quotation services, clearing, registrar and custodial services and investment-related publication; computer
hardware and software incidental to the above goods and services.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Manager makes the strategic resource allocations on behalf of the Sub-Fund and has determined the
operating segments based on the repons reviewed which are nsed to make strategic decisions.

The Manager considers that the Sub-Fund has a single operating segment which is investing in securities. The
objectives of the Sub-Fund are to track the performance of the FTSE China AS0 Index and imvest in
substantially all the index constituents with security weight and industry weight that are closely aligned with
the characteristics of the tracked index.

The intermal financial information wsed by the Manager for the Sub-Fund's assets, [abilities and performance
i= the same a5 that disclosed in the statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income,

The Sub-Fund is domiciled in Hong Kong, The Sub-Fund's income is denved from investments in PRC
secunties which constitute FTSE China AS0 Index, the tracked index.

The total of nen-current asseds of the Sub-Fund located in PRC is RMB 1,383,200 (2018 RMB 1,383,200 ) 2z at
31 December 2019, The Sub-Fund has no other assets classified as nom-cument assets. As al 31 December
2019, the Sub-Fund has a diversified pontfolio of investments and one investment accounts for more than 10%%
of the Sub-Fund's net asset value (20018: ong ),

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Adfter the outbreak of Coronavims Disease 2019 ("COVID-197) in early 2020, the Manager, the Trustee and
the Custodian have all deploved business continuity amangements to minimise intermupdion to business. As of
the date of issuance of these finencial satements, the extent and doration of the impact of COVID-19 on global
and local economies, financial markeis, and sectors and specific positions in which the Sub-Fund invests are
uncertain, The Manager and the Trstee are closely monitoring, and responding to, the development of
COVID-19 as appropriate.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial gatements were approved by the Trostee and the Manager on 27 April 2020,
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CSOF FISE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (Unandited)

Az ar 31 December 2009
Fair value %o of net
Holdings REMBE assels
[nvestments (99,32 %)
Listed equities (99.32%)
China (99.32%%)
360 SECURITY TECHNOLOGY INC A SHES ORD CNY1 1035450 24,343,428 0,16
AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA A SHS ORD CNY1 99 870,603 368,522,525 2.36
AMHUI CONCH CEMENT COMPANY LTD SHS A ORD
CHY 4,504 446 246,813,641 1.58
BANK OF CHINALTD A SHS ORD CNY1 54,945,653 202,749 460 1.30
BANK OF COMMUNICATIONSLTD A SHRS CRD CNY1 52,185,859 203 806,386 1.38
CHINA CITIC BANK CORP A SHRS ORD CNY ] T101,880 43818600 0.28
CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK A SHS ORD.CNY1 23 467,107 169,667, 184 1.08
CHINA EVERBRIGHT BANK CO LTD A ORD CNY1 36324441 160,190,785 103
CHINA INTERNATIONAL TRAVEL SERVICE CORP LTD A
SHS ORD CNY1 2,035,985 181,100,366 1.16
CHINA LIFE INSURANCE CO A SHS ORD NPY 3799982 132,505,372 0.85
CHINA MERCHANTS BANK A SHR ORD CNY1 30,653,821 1,151.970,503 738
CHINA MERCHANTS SHEKOU INDUSTRIAL ZONE COLTD
ORD CNY1 5357442 106,452,372 0.638
CHINA MINSHEMG BANKING COLTD A SHR ORD CHNY1 72,091,103 454,894,860 192
CHINA PACIFIC INSURANCE GROUP A SHR CORD CNY1 6,555,632 248,065,115 1.59
CHINAPETROLEUM & CHEMICAL CORP CL A ORD CNY 1 24911436 127,297,438 082
CHINA SHENHUA ENERGY COLTD A SHS ORD CNY1 5,158,936 94,150,582 0,60
CHINA STATE CONSTRUCTION ENGINEERING CORP LTD
A SHE ORD CNY 1 43,777,297 246,028,409 1.58
CHINA UNITED NETWORK COMMUNICATIONS LTD A
SHRS ORD CNY1 19,843 767 116,879 788 0.75
CHINAVANEKE COLTD A SHR ORD CNY 16,857,234 542,465,790 348
CHINA YANGTZE POWER CO LTD CL A ORD CNY'1 10,323 539 189,746,647 1.22
CITIC SECURITIES CO LTD A SHE ORD CNY1 20262415 512,639,099 329
CONTEMPORARY AMPEREX TECHNOLOGY CO LTD A
SHS ORD CNY1 372,211 G833, 250 0,39
CRRC CORP LTD A SHR ORD CNY1 19413198 138,610,234 0.8%
FOSHAN HAITIAN FLAVOURING & FOOD COMPANY LTD
A SHS ORD CNYL T03.991 T5.686,072 049
FORXCONN INDUSTRIAL INTERNET CO LTD A SHES ORD
CHNY1 2914267 53,243,658 0.34
GREE ELECTRIC APPLIANCES INC OF ZHUHAI A SHS
ORD CNY1 11,091,245 T2T.363,847 4.66
GUOTAL JUNAN SECURITIES CO LTD A SHES ORD NPV 3621457 159,410,740 1.02
HANGZHOU HIEVISION DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY CO LTD
A SHS ORD NPV T378.804 241,582,043 1.55
INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINALTD A
SHS ORD CNY1 56,229,383 330,628,772 2.12
INDUSTRIAL BANK COLTD A SHE ORD CNY'1 36,118,303 T15,142,399 4.58
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CSOF FISE CHINA ASOETF
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOF ETF SERIES)

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (Unaudited) (Continued)
Az ar 31 December 2009

[nvestments (99.32%) (Continned)
Listed equities (99.32%) (Continued)
China (99.32%) (Continued})

INNER MONGILIA YILI INDUSTRIAL GROUP CO LTD A
SHS ORD CHNY1

JIANGSU HENGRUIMEDRICINE COQ LTD A SHR ORD CNY 1

JIAMGSU YANGHE BREWERY JOINT-S5TOCK CO LTD A
SHS ORD CNY1

EWEICHOW MOUTAI CO LTD A SHR ORD CNYI

LUXSHARE PRECISION INDUSTRY CO LTD A SHS ORD
CHY1

MIDEA GROUP CO LIMITED A SHR ORD NPV

MUYUAN FOODSTUFF COLTD A SHS ORD CNYI

NEW CHINA LIFE INSURANCE CO LTD A SHRS ORD NPV

FETROCHINA COLTD A SHES CNY1

PING AN BANEK COLTD A SHE ORD CNY'1

PING AN INSURANCE (GROUF) CO OF CHINA LTD A SHE
ORD CNY

POLY DEVELOPMENTS AND HOLDINGS GROUP COLTD A
SHR ORD CNY

SFHOLDING CO LTD A SHRES ORD CNY'1

SAIC MOTOR CORP LTD A SHE. ORD CNY1

SHANGHAIL INTERMATIONAL AIRPORT CO LTD A SHR
CRD CHY1

SHANGHAI INTERNATIONAL PORT GR LTD A SHE ORD
CNY1

SHANGHAI PUDONG DEVELOPMENT BANK CO LTD A
SHR ORD CNY'1

SHENZHEN MINDRAY BIO MEDICAL ELECTRONICS CO
LTD A SHS ORD CNY1

WENS FOODSTUFF GROUP COLTD A SHES ORD CNY 1

WULIANGYE YIBIN CO LTD A 5HS ORD CNYI

Total investments
Other net assets

Met assels attributable to unitholders at 31 December 2019

Total investments, at cost
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Fair value %o of net
Holdings RMB assels
13,032 830 403,235,760 258
5,302,905 464,110,246 297
1,148,767 126,938,753 .81
1152446 1,363,343 618 874
5,204,020 189,946,730 1.22
5419480 315684710 202
1500956 133,273,435 .85
1,709,058 34,000,201 .54
10,553,038 61,524,212 0,30
21.247.9%6 349.529.041 .24
23,004,246 1,965.942 863 1260
17,866,497 239079921 1.85
1,854 383 68,983 099 044
7,063, 783 168,471,225 1.08
1,507,011 118,677,116 0.76
7.859.657 45,350,221 0.29
374594 613 463 808 363 297
G66,883 121,306,018 0.78
1,108,111 37,232,530 0.24
4,589,030 610,386,880 391
15497,514,898 9932
105,806,378 068
15,603,321,276 100,00
12476,779.768
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(2020 19 )

10,885,622,989.68
(164,699,475,834 )

15,646,209.05
(236,727,143 )

10,869,976,780.63
(164,462,748,691 )

849,000,000

12.8033
(194 )
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(2020 30 )
418,933,333
( 5,815 )

266,666,667

* ( 622 )(2014 )
2
ETF
2020 31 30
3,983,780,125.14 ( 4286 5500 )
(2020 31 )
( )

61,714,853.00

61,714,853.00

1,759,576,175.64
73,708,311.97
825,769,849.61

485,989,771.83

17 3,145,044,109.06
10 754,352,947.79
10 754,352,947.79

22,668,215.29

22,668,215.29

3,983,780,125.14

30 ( 4,286 5,500 )
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(2)

(PricewaterhouseCoopers)
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134

(4)
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131

CSOP
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(4) )

2020 27
=1388 )
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CSOP
2019 2019 12 31
3 2019 2019 Dk 3 20134
=iEF L B+HM #E F Il B#+HM
07 &5 16,20 (200 ) IIATSALT 4711918 75 285287 103 3050 786,250
ELREN N 15 288,162 253520 G 18,573 102 255010005
=] 638,516 566 J66 1261001 17 502,004
T Tvith MR & 16 M 136,085 335017 160 10,788 (43 149 738 057
Tl L TAElETHE SR D RmMEE
H LU EMBIEOREE. (E5) 17 04106 313425377 (S0ITLIEN (90 1% 574
EHSEER (1 4207507 (26,104 5320 (4,753 355 (65 076 567)
EXEHE 4013 50055 5A01063 108 260,534 707 A6 015733
HESHR 1= (268 ATIASEY (3720187 520 (214 MOAE (2970284 4TD)
ERER (2 044 (2 3T1955) - -
ol S 132882112 1244403 715 46,54 (50 6031261
EAREHEBA 6 (15 Fa4 220 (260 F 22 225 (7,558 754 (104 915 _506)
LM AES 114 a5 a0 15835631 459 30905 285 HMLLL5 756
HEnRE -
HirkEE i 114 P93 090 1,583,651 450 40,052 187 555024 356
A B i = i - - ([ 1066 902 (14 0B GO0
114 P9 090 1583 881 450 35005285 1115756
T oI
ToHdREICASE I hS - EME5EH
LEHEEE 130,123 14 0002 i (652 208 (8 776 2067
LB Tk TSRS 120,193 14,902 o5 (632 20 (2 776 2067
LK SRS ST 115175212 1595 673 553 30352 987 2330460
2EHS0RH -
HirkEE i 115178212 1 598 673 563 30419 pR0 HT 148050
APtk = Fl iR - - (166 S0 (14 208 500y
A R HE S5 115178212 1,508 673 583 38352987 552339460
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CSOP
2019 12 31
e 20195 0155 e 015
i F Il B#+H FEEF I B+HM
4.3
BHENE
BEEEEEE g 4730705 65 787 105 1,512 148 20588 514
1% A g 20184181 301 106 432 - -
RIER ST E 7 1746570 M 242 517 704 141 0TI AT
HATO465 481 26 054 2,016 250 30,762 P91
EEE
PR EE O TREmETAEshoEREE 3ia), 10 S A15T46 T 25906 554 470 467 425 S0 08T Ao
EEOHASITICR T IEE 007 162593 2256791 - -
it Lo, FRId&. ¥ OithFimE 11 31 523504 1,131 548 273 49101 150 21,525 10
& & LiFR & B 21 112 118467 1570 454 522 05434 073 4401158 953
722 420,500 10 127 196 540 g25 052 568 11451720 221
EESE 757 P00 265 10 508 420 504 g7 268 47T 11432 402 i13
#BErux
SHEFICRET S ERE
W 12 418 933333 5814 704 5D 204 266 f66 3045601 304
T M ith |3 5 MI1n (5§25 580y (1499 235 (20217 23
Fl 5 Bl 117 BEE Q55 1537 330 fiR5 I A65 B6S 3 IT0ARE 206
rESF A 536 4TTSTT T 446308 Jo0 04 R A 7004301 pas
B ik
EPA ik
BEE L TP EE TE S h IR E Ha) 2254361 31,200 531 212 746 2952914
BEZ U FICRTDEROES 14ib) 75033 206 455 455 51003 765 T, M2ap5%
FHL L ERE LU T M TER 112 go2305 1550 256 443 70028 £51 o200 452
- ZBi& 0 17 f42200 244 27E 261 - -
FH Ao 13 - 163 520 00 20657 00
LSHEF SR E 55 440060 TE0 fIZ AT 35052 420 403 T4 01T
EEOD#ASITICHTESR - - M3 305 13,04 305
209 113067 2802 489 370 TAEE 1T 4 472,190 165
BERA K
- ZBi& g 11 500321 135 455
Rikast 20 £113 385 P62 115 pas TWAMEE 1T 4,478,100 165
BEwE-ARSS 757 PO0GES 10 508 420 504 FAT MR ATT 11422 402 013
10 71 CSOP
2020 3 26
Ding Chen Zhang Gaobo
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wER it e B S &M i o i oy BERESM

=# P HAEM THEE L H#EM =H P H &M oL Ea] =HE H#&EM = L H &M
2GR LR 395,621, 54 1450555 ) (20,3768 221,55,53 30T 200 0, 633,655 T4, DL 0,637, 6555 T, 301,345
- - 14,1685, 55 15,63 45 114,055 090 1585, 631, 45 L1455, 0000 L5E, 63 4

- 10122 14, 992055 Lia,12 14,504,095 108,122 W, %8, 0%

- LuE,122 14,992,055 14,1655, 530 15,63 43 115175212 1,39, 673, 365 11517522 1,355, 0T, 5%

L34, 666,67 - - - L4, 1, o7 1569,173, 355 L3, 665,667 150,175,535
- - CLEMOM0T  (302530000) CLE000OONY 5,025, 30,000) CLEM0M0T (3025300007

L34, 666,67 159,175,355 - CLEMOM0Y (302530000 (ERIIRII) LM KGR 0BT (LLIREEGID)
H1§933333 5304, T4, k2 (419,711} 058558 117,563,565 1,637,379 0% S3ATISTT THLDE TS S3ITIEIT T4, 30 T
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2019 2019 12 31
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1| — 2B & O FIE (2044 1w (28371955 - -
BEEFHI_LOFEWEFrueaT7O- BRAOT 510 1243 752250 76 511373 LDG1a77 257
EEEBI- LBt vovayO— T e
BEEET=EEORESE g (4 206 i) (3% 379308 (725 0750 (10064 peFy
R & IE T A0 il TIE & S gD
m=HIZ L DUIRA 1,154 363 400 16 e 5735 292 216256 30009 75
R &7 8 T A0 il TIE & h Sk AR
£ LiFf B Og (1152023 S00) (16 406 f29 144 (62 122 526 (6226 5257
FEtmEHIZL SR - - 2075 165 28 2 )
= M S 638 E16 & pO6 T66 121m1 17,502 £
e dIREN 137283 162 293 F30 A0 18373 192 255019 905
mEEHhTERIhESEw - Frwaz
0- (12444 443 (172 728 605) (ELAE 3] (0553 279
HEEHI-LE2X > 70—
|- S oot 15 (15414 913 (215 258 992
HRRETICLIIRA 12 13456 fi57 1260 173 338 - -
F&Eit 7 7 o FREEAIADHEE O 2 DE0E, 4k (3125 204 (4337080 (3 P55 f28) (33516 1173
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CSOP

2019 12 31

CSOP

Suite 2801-03, Two Exchange Square, 8
Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong

2019 12 31

2019 12 31
10

21

HKFRS
HKICPA
HKAS
622
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CSOP
2019 12 31
2,
2.1

HKFRS

4
()
HKFRS

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 16

HKAS 19

HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

HKFRS3  HKFRS11  HKAS12  HKAS23
2015 2017
HKFRS

0) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

HKAS12
HKAS12
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CSOP
2019 12 31
2,
2.1

@

(i) HKFRS16

HKFRS 16 HKAS 17 HK

(IFRIC) 4

HK(SIC) 15 - HK
(SIC) 27
HKFRS 16
HKAS 17 HKAS 17
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 16 2019 1 1
2019 1 1
2018
HKAS 17
HKFRS 16
HKAS 17 HK (IFRIC)-Int 4
HKAS 17 HK (IFRIC)-Int 4
HKFRS 16

2019 1 1
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HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16

(i)

2019 1 1 2019 1 1

HKAS 36

2019 1 1 HKFRS 16

BE
HHEEEEDEMN

EE Gt OB

A i
V2B EDEM

& 1E & F M
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(i)
12
2019 1 1
ELili
EREFNL HAM
38,615,190 535,978,837
38,615,190 535,978,837
38,615,190 535,978,837
38,615,190 535,978,837
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2019 12 31
2.
21

@

(i) HKFRS 16

2018 12 31 2019 1 1

i M

0181231 H/E O 2 L —F 4 2 F « 1) - 2325 42035220 583,448 854
N 1 H 1BRTE DMEFEEEMEL N FE 5% 5%
MmoeF 1 HIHEECEE @3 -2l —T 4 8 1) 2225 38615,100 535 078 837
20191 H1HRED )~ A% 38415190 535,078 877
2.2

@

acquisition method
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(b)

2018 2018 12 31

(©
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25
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2.16

(i)

(i)

5%

(iii)
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(v)
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(vii) (3 0]
( )
(viii)
2.19
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CSOP
2019 12 31
10.
(@
2018 12 31
DHF 1 100% -
1
CSOP 1 100% -
20,000,000
CSOP 1 1 100% -
CSOP 1 100% -
1
CSOP us 96.73% -
8,722,385 8,437,106
CSOP SAFE RQFII 96.06% -
ETF 285,000 273,770
CSOP 87.49%% -
A
RQFII 651,419 569,955
A
us 50% -
25,000
12,500
2018 2018 12 31 CSOP
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

FORTHE YEAR ENDED3] DECEMBER 2019

Revenue

Interest income

Dividend income

Other income

Net gaina(losses) on financial assets and liabilities al
fair value through profit or loss

Net foreign exchange losses

Operating profit

Operating expenses
Finance cosls

Profit before tax
[neome tax expense
Profit for the year
Profit atiributable to:

Eqquity holders of the Comprany
Non-controlling interest

Other comprehensive income:

[tems that may be subsequently recassified to profit
or loss

Currency translation differences

Oher comprehensive income Tor the year, nel of fax

Total comprehensive income for the vear

Total comprehensive income atiributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Mon-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income Tor the vear

= =

Moles

16, 20(a)b)

1a

17

18

252/346

2019 2018

HKS HES
339475417 285,287,193
18,288,162 18,373,192
638,816 1,261,001
24,136,683 10,788,043
22,941,306 (50,371,367)
(1,880,730) {4.753.355)
403,599,654 260,584,707
(268,673.453)  (214,040,668)
(2.044,089) .
132,882,112 46,544,039
{18,784.022) (7.558.754)
114,098,090 18,985,285
114,098,090 40,052,187
3 (1.066.902)
114,098,090 18,985,285
1,080,122 (632,298)
1,080,122 {632,298)
115,178,212 18,352,987
115,178,212 39,419,889
- {1,066,902)
115,178,212 38,352,987
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASAT M1 DECEMBER 2012

Motes 2019 2018
HE3 HE%
ASSETS
MNon-current assets
Propenty and equipment 3 4,739 705 1,512,148
Right of use asset 9 28,184,181 -
Dreferred tax assets 7 1,746,579 704,141
24,670,465 2,216,289
Current assels
Financial assets at fair value throngh profit or loss 3{a), 10 522615, 746 470,467 425
Amount due from immediate hol Company 20(c) 162,593 -
P ents, deposits, other receivables 11 81,523,654 49,101,090
Cash and cash equivalents 21 118,118,467 305484,073
T22.420,500 825,052,588
Total assets 757090965 827,268,877
EQUITY
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company
Share capital 12 418,933,333 284,266,666
Other reserves (419,711 {1,499 833}
Retained eamings 117,963,955 221,865,865
Total equity 536,477,577 504,632,698
LIABILITIES
Current Habilities
Financial liabilities at fair valoe through profit of loss 3a) 2,254,351 212,746
Other investors” interest in imvestment
funds 140} 14,875,033 51,998 765
Accrned liabilities and other payables 118,892,395 T0028.851
Leaze liabilities 9 17,642,209 =
Drividend payable 13 - 163,520,000
Cugrent tax liabilities 55,449,069 35,932 422
Amount due to immediate holding companmy - 943,395

209,113,067 322.636,179

Non-current liabilities

Lease halities b 11,500,321 -
Total liabilides 220,613,388 322,636,179
Total equity and liabilities T57.090,95 827,268,877

The consolidated financial statements nnallgsge; 10 to 70 were approved by the Board of Directors on
26 March 2020 and were signed on its behalf:

Dingf‘hcn et ?Iumg e
Drirector Director

The accompanying notes form an integral pant of these consolidated financial statements,

=11 =
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Motes 2019 2018
HES HES
Cash Nlows Trom operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities 14 {a) 91,961,411 93,259 367
Tax paid (309.812) (16,747.994)
Interest payment on lease labilities (2,044,089
MNet cash generated from operating activities 89,607,510 76,511,373
Cash fMlows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment & (4,206,002 ) (T25,079)
Proceeds from sales of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 1,154,863.400 2,162,086
Purchase of financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (1,182,033,800) (62,122.826)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary - 2,075,165
Dividend received 638,816 1,261,001
Interest received 18,288,162 18.373,1922
Net cash used in investing activities (12.444,424) (38.976,461)
Cash flows from financing activities
Principal portion of lease payments 15 (15:414,213) -
Proceeds from issuance of shares 12 134,666,667 -
Payment of redemption of shares of subsidiary funds 14ih) (3,125,204) (3.855628)
Proceeds from subscaption of shares of subsidiary funds 14{l) BG4, 848 9,796,875
Drividend paid 15 (381,520,000) (31,440,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (264,528,692) (25498,753)
Met {decrease ) increase in cash and cash equivalents (187,365,606) 12,036,159
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Janmary 305,484,073 203447914
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2l 118118467 305484073
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at banks 117,990,340 305,393,873
Cazh in hand 128,127 20,200

118118467 305484,073

The accompanying notes form an integral part of theze consolidated financial statements.

- 14 -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

1. CGeneral information

CS0P Asset Management Limited (the “Company") provides asset management services. The
Company is licensed by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission to carry out Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Tvpe 9 (assel mmanagement) regulated
aclivilies,

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its registered
office 15 Swite 280 1-03, Two Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Ceniral, Hong Kong.

China Southern Fund Management Co. Ltd, a company incorporated in the People's Republic of
China, is the immediate and utimate holding company of the Company .

Asat 31 December 2019, the Company invested in a number of companies and investment funds with
significant shareholding which are recognised as the subsidiaries of the Company (together, the
IIGmp"J:

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared by consclidating the financial
information of the companmes and mvestment funds which are regarded as the subsidianes of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, Refer to Note 10 for the detailz of the subsidianies.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidianes (together, the "Group”)
are presented in HE dollars ("HEKS"). unless otherwise stated.

2. Summary of significant accounting poli cdes

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set owt below, These policies have been consistently applied to all the vears presented, mless
otherwise stated.

21 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HEFRE") (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HK ASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and accounting principles generally
accepled in Hong Kong ) and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance Cap. 622, The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss for the year
enided 31 December 2019,
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting poli des (continued)
21 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consgolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the nse of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
of complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Mote 4.

() Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HEFR S5 for the frst time in the coment period's
financial statements, which are applicable to the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS & Prepayuent Features with Negative Compensalion

HEFES 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtariment or Seitlenen

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Tnterests in Assocteates and Joint Venlres

HE(IFRIC p=Int 23 Uineertainty over fncome Tay Treatmenis

Annual Improvements Amendments to HEFRS 3, HEFRS 11, HEAS 12 and HEAS 23
2015-2017 Cycle

Other than as explamed below, the adeption of the above revised standards has had no sigmficant
financial effect on these financial stalements.

The natwre and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:
(i) HE(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertamnty over Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treastments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of HKAS 12, The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain lax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses the following:
»  Whether an entity considers uncertain tax trealments separately
*  The assumptions an endity makes abowt the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities
#  How an entity determines taxable profits (tax losses), tax bases, unused tax losses, unsed (ax
credits and tax rates
«  How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

The interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.,
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

£ Summary of significant acconnting polides (continued)

11 Basis of preparation {continued)
(a) Changes in accounting polides and disdosures (continued)
(i1} HEFRS 16, “Leases”

HKFRS 16 replaces HEAS 17 Leases, HE(IFRICHInt 4 Determining whether an Armrangement
contains a Lease, HR(SIC -Int 15 Operting Leases - Incentives and HE{SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees Lo account
for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model. Lessor accounting under HEFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from HEKAS 17, Lessors will continue to claseify leases as either operating
or finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17, Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not ave any
financial impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group adopted HKFES 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of
initial application of 1 January 2019, Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with
the comulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained eamings
at 1 January 2019, and the comparative information for 2018 was not restated and continues to be
reported under HEAS 17,

Mew defimtion of a lease

Under HEFRES 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use
of an 1denti fed asset for a penod of time n exchange for consideration, Contral is conveyed where
the customer has both the rght to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The Group elected 1o use the
trangition practical expedient allowing the standarnd to be applied only to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HEAS 17 and HE(IFRICHInt 4 a the dale of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HEKAS 17 and HK{IFRIC)-Ini 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HEKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into
of changed on or after 1 Janaary 2019

-17-
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

£ Summary of significant acconnting polides (continued)
11 Basis of preparation (Continued)
{a) Changes in accounting policy and disdosure (continued)

i) HEKFRS 16, “Leases” {continued)

aszified as

Nanire af the effect of adoption of HEFRS 16

The Group has lease contract for its registered office. As a lessee, the Group previously classified
leases as either finance leases or operating leases based on the assessment of whether the lease
transferred substantially all the rewards and nsks of ownership of assets (o the Growp, Under HKFRS
16, the Group applies a single approach to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases, except for two elective exemplions for leazes of low value assets (elected on
a lease by lease basis) and shor-term leases (elected by class of underlying asset), The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for (i) leases of low-value assets (e.g.
laptop computers and telephones ), and (1) leases, that at the commencement date, have a lease term
of 12 months or less. Instead, the Group recognises the lease payments associafed with those leases
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Fmpacts on transifion

Lease liabilities 2 1 January 2019 were recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incrementsal bomrowing rate at | January 2019 and presented separately
from other liabilities in the satement of financial positicon.

The right=-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of financial
position immediately before 1 January 2019, All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the night-of-use assets separsely in the
statement of financial positon.

The impacts afsing fom the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 are as follows;

Increase
HES
Assets

Increase in right-of-use assets 38 415,190
[ncrease in total assets 38,615,190

Liabilities
Increase in lease liaklities 38,615,190
[ncrease in total hatdlities 38,615,190
"
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

11

22

2

22

Summary of significant acconnting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation {contnued)

(a) Changes in accounting polides and disdosures (conti nued)
(i) HEKFRS 16, “Leases” {continued)

The lease labilities as o 1 January 2019 reconciled (o the operating lease commitments as a 31
December 2018 is as follows:

HE3
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 42,035,220
Weighted average ineremental borrowing rate as at 1 Jannary 2019 5%
Discounted operating lease commitments as at 1 January 2019 38,615,190
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 33615190

Subsidiaries
(a) Conzolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control,
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has nghts to, variable retnms
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those retums through its
power over the entity, Subsidianes are fully consobidated from the date on whach control 1=
transferred to the Group, They are deconsolidated from the date thal control ceases. The
Gronp uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations, The
consideration transfermed for the acqusition of a subsidiary 15 the far values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests izsued by the Group.

The consideration transferred includes the fur value of any asset or habiliy resulting from a
comtingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incumed.
Identifiable assets acquired and habilities and contingent hatnlities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values @ the acquisition date, On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s propomtionate share of the
ACqUITEE's neL assels,

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-comparny transactions that
are recognised in assets are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's accounting policies.

Summary of significant accounting polices (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

13

24

24

{a)

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

The Group consolidated centam funds that the Company has controls (*Subsidiary Funds™).
The cther investors® interest in these Subsidiary Funds other than interest owned by the Group
are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss for the Group and
presented as other investors” interest derived from investment funds on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The changes in fair value of the other investors’ interest in
investment fiunds is included in the net gains(losses) on fnancial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss in the comsolidated statement of profit or loss amd other
comprehensive income.

Separate financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 20019 and 2018, investment in subsidiaries at the Company
level 15 acconnted for as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and stated at far
value in accordance with HEFRS 9"Financial Instrument ",

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividemd exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amonnt of the investment
in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Assodates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a sharcholding of between 20%%6 and 5084 of the voting nghts.

The Group has invested in certain investment fimds that it manages. The Group has applied the
measurement exempiion within HEAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” for mutual
funds, unit trusts and similar entities and such investments are classified as financial assets at foir
value through profit or loss,

Foreign currency translation

(a)

1]

Functional and prezentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environmend in which the entity operates (the
"functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK dollars,
which is the Group's functional and the Group's presentation cumency,

Transactions and balances

Foreign cummency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevaling at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Summary of significant accounting poll des (continued)

Foreign currency transiation (continwed)
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

25

15

(b} Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at vear-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presenied in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
within “net foreign exchange gains/{losses)". All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the conzolidated statement of statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income within "other gains/{losses)".

For the vear ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets amd liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss,

(c) Group compardes

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the cumency of
a hyper-inflationary economy jthat have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assels and liabilities presented are translated af the closing rate af the peried’yvear end
date;

{ii} income and expenses are translated at average exchange mtes (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case meome and expenses are translated ot the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

{iiiy  all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Omn consolidation, exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net mvestment in
foreign operations are taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is
partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity ane recogmised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive as pant of the gain or
loss on zale.

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant amnd equipment are dated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation
and any impaitment lesses. The cost of an item of propeny, plant and equipment comprises ils
purchase price and any directly stiributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended nse. Expenditure incurred after items of propenty, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the camying amount of the asset as a
replacement.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required (o be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognizes such parts as individuoal aszets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Depreciation 15 caloulated wsing the straght-line method to allocate ther cost or revalsed amonnts Lo
their residual values over their estimated wseful lives, as follows:

Furniture and fixiures 5 years

Office equipment 3 - 5 years
Leasehold improvements over lease term
Motor vehicle 5 years

The gain or loss on disposal of items of propeny, plant and equipment 15 the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrving amount of the relevant asset and is recognised within “other
gains{losses)” in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The assels’ residual values, vseful hives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted 1f
appropriate, at least o each financial year end,

in Impal rment of non-finandal assets

The Group assesses al the end of each reporting period whether there 15 an indication that an asset
miay be impained. [P such an indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
armont,

The recoverable amount of an asset 15 the higher of its fair valne less costs of disposal and its valoe in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fows are disconned to their present valoe
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time valne of money and
the rigks specific to the asset. Where an aszet does not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently {i.e., a cash-generating unit).

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrving amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. A reversal of the impairment loss is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. The reversal of the
impairment loss is credited 1o profit or loss in the year in which it anses,
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant acconnting policies (continued)
2.7 Financial assets and liabilities
171 Financial assets

Fnitial recognition and preasuremenl
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive meome, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contracteal
cash flow charactenstics and the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Growp has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs, Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set ot for “Revenne
recognition (applicable from 1 January 20087 below.

Im order for a financial asset to be classi fied and measured at amontised cost or fair value throngh other
comprehensive income {(“OCT), itneeds to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and inderest {"SPPT) om the principal amount owtstanding, This assessment is referred to as the SPPI
test and is performed at an instrument level, Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managzing financial assets refers (o how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured al amonised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair vahue
through OCT are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling,

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within atime frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way irades) are recogmised on the trade date, i.e,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the assel.

Srchse quent me asurvene
The subsequent measurerment of firancial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Firancial assets af amartized cost (el instrments)
The Group measures financial assets ot amortised cost if both of the fallowing conditions are met:
= The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
onder to collect contractual cash flows.
®  The contractual terms of the financial asset give nse on specified dates to cash Aows that are
solely payments of principal and interes on the principal amount cutstanding.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant acconnting policies (continued)
271 Financial assets (comtinued)

Financial assels at amortised cost are subsequently messured using the effective interest { EIR) method
and are sulyecd (o imparment. Gains and losses are recogiused in profit or loss when the asset 15
derecognised, modified or imgaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost includes deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due From subsidiaries and amounts due from immediate holding company.

Financial assets at fair vafue through profit or loss

Financial assets al fair value theough profit or loss are carmied in the statement of financial position al
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments, unlisted investment funds and listed equity investments
which the Group had not imevocably elected to classify at fair value through OCL Dividends on listed
equity investments are recogmised as other income in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the rght of payment has been established,

2,72 Derecognition of finandal assets

A financial asset {or, where applicable, a pant of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's statement of financial
position) when

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material defay 1o a third party
under a "pass-through" ement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially

all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its nghts (o receive cash flows from an assef or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and o what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
owmership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the nsks amd rewards of
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group contines to recognise the transferred asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case. the Group alse recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing invelvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the onginal carying amount of the asset and the maximuem amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2. Summary of significant accounting poli des (continued)
173  Impalrment of financial assels

The Group recognises an allowance for expected eredit losses ("ECLs") for financial assels carned
at amontized cost, ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows doe in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects (o receive, disconmted at
an approximation of the onginal effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will inclnde cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
tenms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL) {Stage 1), For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
4 lozs allowance i= required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL ) { Stage 2).

For the deposits, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from subsidiaries and
amounts due from immediate holding company, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit sk, but instesd recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, The Group has established a provision
matrx that 15 based on its lostorical credit loss expenence, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the detdors and the econemic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due,
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset (o be in defaolt when intemal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the owstanding contractual
amounis in full before taking into acconnt any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
assel is writlen off when there is no reasonable expectation of recoverng the contractual cash Alows.

274  Financial Habilites

Initial recognition and measirement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities a8 fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instmments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and. in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables. net of directly attributable transaction costs,

The Group's financial liabilities include all the current liabilities presented in statement of financial
position except current tax liabilities.

Subsecquient measuremens

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two categones:
+«  Financial liatlities at far value through profit or loss

+  Financial liabilities al amortised cost

Financial lfabilities ot fair value teough profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair valoe through profit or loss include financial liabalities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value throngh profit or loss.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.7.4  Financial liabilities (continued)

Firrenetal labilittes ai faiv value through profit or loss (e ontined)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incumed for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This calegory also includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined
by HEFRS 2, Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging imstruments,

Gains or lesses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or foss,

Financial liabilities designated upon imitial recogmition at fair value through profit or loss are
designated at the initial date of recogmition, and only if the crteria in HKFRS % are satisfied. The
Group has designated an investment as financial liability as af fair value therongh profit or loss,

Financial liahilities at amoriised cost

Adter initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the EIR amomisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or preminm on acquisition and fees
or costs that are anintegral part of the EIR. The EIR. amortisation is included as finance costs in profit
or loss,

2.7.5  Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms. or the terms of an existing habihty are substantially modified. such an
exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition
of a new liability, The difference in the respective carrying amount s 1s recogrased in profit or loss,
18 Offsetting finandal instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and

there is an intemtion (o settle om a net basis, to realise the assets and =ettle the liabilities
simmltaneously.

.9 Deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables are recognised nitially 3t far value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

If the settlement of the receivables is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets.
If nod, they are presented as non-curment assets.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant acconnting policies (continued)

210 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalenis include cash in hand, deposits held a0 call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when acquired, less bank
overdrafts,

211 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equaty.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

212 Payables

Payables are recogmsed imbially at far value and subsequently measured at amortised cost uang the
effective interest method.

Payables are classified as cumrent habihibes if pavment i doe within one year or less, 1IF not, they are
presented a2 non-current liabilities.

213 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises cwrrent and deferred tax, Tax is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except 1o the extent thal it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Inthis case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively,

The current 1ax charge is caleulated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group's subsidiary operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returms with respect to sifuations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax anthonties.

Deferred tax i provided using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes. Tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period are used to determine the defersed tax.

Deferred tax liabalities are provided in fall while deferred ax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that fiture taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
b utilised.

-27.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant accounting polices (continued)
213 Current and deferred tax {continued)

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences ansing on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable theat
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset cument
ta assets against currend tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes assets and liablities relate (o taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where
there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

214 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracis with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recogmsed when control of goods or services 15 transferred

to the customers al an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the comsideration in a contract includes a varable amount, the amouwit of consideration is
estimated to be the consideration to which the Company will be entilled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the costomer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
curmulative revenne recognised will not ocenr when the associated uncerainty with the vanable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the confract contains a financing component which provides the customer a significant benefit
of firancing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one vear, revenue is
meastired at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted wsing the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separale financing iransaction between the Company and the costomer al contract
inception. When the contract containe a financing component which provides the Company a
significant financial benefit for more than one yvear, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted onthe contract liability under the effective interest method. For acontract
where the penod between the payment by the costomer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year of less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15

(a) Management fee, performance fee, advisory fee and distribufion fee income
Revenue from the provision of management services, advisory services and distribution services
are recogrised over the scheduled period because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Company. The disclosures are included in Mote 18 to the
financial statements,

(b} Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instnament or a shorter pericd, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

=28
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant accounting polices (continued)
214 Revenue recognition (continued)

(¢) Dividend income
Divadend income 15 recogmsed when the nght 1o recenve pavment has been established, o is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Company and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

215 Leases (as 2 lessee)

The Group assesses al contract inceplion whether a contract is, of contains, a lease. That ig, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of ime in exchange for
consideration.

The Group applies asingle recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for shon-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease paymenis
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-cfuse assels

Right-of-use assets are recogmised at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impainment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurernent of lease Habilities. The cost of rght-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
ligbilities recognised. inmitial direct costs incurred. and lease payments made a or before the
commencement date less any lease meentives recenved. Unless the Group 15 reasonably ceraim to
obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recogmised fght-of-use assets are
depreciated on a strapght -line basis over the shorter of the estimated vseful life and the lease term.

Lease Fabilfties

Lease halines are recogmised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments (o be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, vanable lease payments that depend
o an indey oF a rate, and amonnts expected o be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option (o terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
OCCITS.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group nses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date. the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease labilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in figture lease payments ansing from change in an
index or rate, a change in the lease tenm, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change
in assessment to purchase the underlying asset,

-0 .
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

2 Summary of significant acconnting polices (continued)
216 Employment benefits
(i} Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised a= a liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by emplovees and a reliable
estimate ofthe obligations can be made,

(i} Pension obligations

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund scheme. the assets of which are held in
a separate (rustee-administrated fund. The pension plans are funded by payments from
employees and by the Group.

The Group's contributions 1o the mandatory provident fund scheme are expensed as incurred.
Thiz plan is funded by payments from both emplovees and the Group. The Group has no
further payment obligations cnce the contnbutions have been paid,

The employees of the Group's subsidiary which operates in Mainland China are required to
pamicipate in a central pension scheme operated by the local mumicipal government, This
subsidiary is required to contribute 5% of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the mles of the central pension scheme,

{itiy  Emplovee leave entitlements
Emplovee entitlements to anmual leave are recognised when they accrme (o employees, A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered
by emplovees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave,

=30 -

2721346



EDINETOOOO
OO00D0O00o0O00D0bDO000DO0Odnoo(E27318)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

&

117

118

- B

Summary of significant acconnting polices (continued)
Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Group's shareholders is recogrised as a Bability in the Group's financial
staternents in the penod in which the dividends ane approved by the Group's shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Related Parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if

{a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's family and that person

(1) has control or jeint control over the Groupy:

(i} has significant influence over the Group, or

(i1} 15 a member of the key management persomnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(by  the party 12 an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i} the entity and the Group are members of the same group,

(1} one entity 15 an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity),

(ii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same thind party:

(v} one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity,

(vi the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group:

(vi} the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) @ person identified in{a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity {or of a parent of the entity ); and

(viil) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a pant, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a resull of a
past event and it is probable that a foture cutflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
prosaded that a rehable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required (o setile

the obligation, The increase in the disconmted present value amount ansing from the passage of time
is included in profit or loss.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Finandal risk management

Fimernetal risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a vanety of financial nisks: market risk {including foreign exchange
risk, fair value and cash flow interest nsk, and price nsk), credit and conmerpany nsk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall nsk management programme focuses on the inpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial perfonmance. The
Group may use derivative financial instruments to hedge centain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by the directors of the Group to identify significant risks, especially
such risks that may jeopardise the continued existence of the Group.

() Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial insgtmment will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices. whether those changes are caused by factors specific (o the individual instrument or
factors affecting all instruments in the market.

The Group has significant shareholding in the investment funds which are recognised as subsidianes
(“Subsidiary Funds") or financial assets at fair value through profit or lose or available-for-sale
financial assets (together "Investee Funds") of the Group. As a result, apant from exposing to the
market price risk of the direct investments of the Growp, the Group is also exposed to the market price
risk of the investment porifolio of the Subsidiary Funds through its significant holdings. The
investment porifolios of the Subsidiary Funds include the equity securities which are traded on the
PRC dock exchanges, and USD and RMB denominated detd securities in different geographical
locations.

At 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2018, the Group's market risk was affected by three main
components: changes in actual market prices, interest rate and forgign cumency movements, Inderest
rate and foreign cumency movements are covered in Notes 3(b) and 3{e) below respectively. The
Group's market price risk is managed by seeking to moderate risk through selection of securities within
specified limits,
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The table below summanises the Company's investment m the Subsicdiary Funds as at year end:

Investment in Subsidiary Funds by the Company

- Listed exchange traded fund
- Unbigted investment finds

Total

2019 2018

HES HEKS
42,952,582 47,367,647
191,407 843 274,414,067
234,360,425 321,781,714
—_

The table below summanses the Group's direct investment in the Investee Funds amnd the indirect
nvestment i equties, exchange traded fiowd and debt secunties via investment i the Subsdiary

Funds as at year end,

Investment in Investee Funds

- Unlisted investment funds
- Listed investment funds

Toal

Derivative finandal instruments

Finandial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- Listed equity investments

Unlisted Investment products

Indirect investment through the Subsidiary Funds
- Listed equity investments
- Listed options
- Debt securities

Total

Total financial assets and liabilities at fair value threugh
profit or loss
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2019 2018

HKS HKS
16,429,233 105,339,579
245,987,078 46,900,217
262416311 152,235,796
(185,001 54,257
{2.069,360) <
18,952,086 11,070,646
- 83,900,004

- 377,062

241247 349 222412914
241,247 349 306,889 980
20,361,385 470,254,679
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Finandal risk management {continued)

(=) Market price risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group invests in USD and RMB denominated
debt securities, USD and RMB denominated equity secunties and USD denominated options through
the investment in Subsidiary Funds and the following table discloses the geographic lecation
exposire;

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

2018 2018

HES %o of NAY HES %o of NAY
China 144,033,350 26.85 103,043,956 20.82
Germany - - 26,075,136 517
Hong Keng 81,078,085 15.11 99,929,164 19.80
Luxembourg, - - 3420471 0.68
Singapore - - 42,255,654 837
United States - - 30,369,345 6.02
Cayman 16,133,374 LX) | - -
Total 241,247,349 44.97 307.102,726 60,86

Financial liabalities at fair value through profit and loss

2019 2018
HES %% of NAV HES %o of MAV
United States - - 212746 0,04
Tedal - - 212,746 0.4
] . ———————— | -} |
«34-
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Finandal risk management {continued)

(=) Market price risk (continued)

The Group's investments inthe Subsidiary Funds and the Invesiee Funds are subject 1o their respective
terms and conditions and the offering documentation and are susceptible o market price sk ansing
from uncerainties abowl future values of those Subsidiary Funds and the Investee Funds. all of the
Subsidiary Funds and the Investee Funds of the Group are managed by port folio managers who are
compensated by the respective Subsidiary Funds and the Investee Funds for their services. Such
compensation generally consists of an asset based fee and a performance based incentive fee and is
reflected in the valuation of the Group's investment in each of the Subsidiary Funds and the Investee
Funds. The right of the Group to request redemption of its investments in Subsidiary Funds and the
Investee Funds ranges in frequency from daily to monthly.

The tables below summarise the market price risk sensitivity of the Group through its investments in
the Subsidiary Funds and the Investee Funds recognised as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018. The analysis is based onthe assumptions that the relevant prices of the securities in the relevant
risk variables increased or decreased by the percentage disclosed in the table below with all the other

varables held constant.
As a3l December 209
In it the Subsidiary Funds by the Conpany
';'rp.!.n;t tothe
consolidabed
statament of
commprehmave
Fur wakus Reasomable possible e ]
Subsidiery Funds HES Felesant nzli vanshles shuft o mte HES
CEOP Belect US Daliar Il 407843 O Asia Brosd Eood /= 3% +1=553 40
Baond Fund Index
CBOP RME Money 42952582 Ot Chinese Gomemment H- 1% H-155712
Wiadoat ETF (formerly and Polioy Bards Bond 0-1
knosen a2 CEOP Chmna Yeuwr B=lect Index
Thites Short-Team Bond
ETF)
T8 340425 +-BE9.373

277/346



EDINETOOOO
OO00D0O00o0O00D0bDO000DO0Odnoo(E27318)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CHEOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Finandal risk management {continued)

(=) Market price risk (continued)

Ad at 3 Decermber 3019
Investmend in the Tnvestee Fuds

Enwesten Funeds Foelevant nsk Reasorable possible Empact ko the

Farvalue varables shift mnabe congoalidated

HES stuternent of

eorpreeniT e

meoeme

HES

CEOP Hong Keong Dollar Money 150,198,950  Motapplicable i MR 14,018 55
Market ETF (Blote)

C2OP Olobal Quand Allocation Fund 16429233 Wotappheoable w104 w1642 923
I3p (Hote

CEOP US Dollar Money Masket ETF 4SS EM  Notappheable +- 1% +-5 445285
(ke

CEOP MECT Chuna A Inclusion Index G331 Hotapphable +H- 10 HEHNT
ETF (Moke)

Other ETF TET S8 HWolapphable ol 1 +LTHT5E
(Hoted

Otk 413370  Motapphable bl N0 #4113 572
(Blate)

243 416,311 26241 520

Adatl 31 December 2003
Inwestent in the Subsidiary Funds by the Company

Irmpact to the
aoral el atad
saterment of
CETprhm Ve
Farvalue Rexsonable possdbbe o
Subsadiary Flad HES Belsvant ngdke varushles shifl = cate HES
CEO0P Select US Duwilar 177 445,011 Cib Az Broad Bond 4= 5% .3 237 542
Bond Fund Index
C20P China Ulkrs Short- 4767 T Cib Chnese Governanent +H- 1% +-115.012
Term Bond ETF md Folicy Bank Bord 041
Year Salact Index
CEOP Chirm InbeHigence A- 1088170 Motapplcable (Hots) i 108G -8 T1881T
Ehuare Furnd
I3 Tech Etrategy Fund PIi6A8S  Motapplicable (Fote) i 10%4% +-FL1 589
321,781,714 +.1 2,550 060
- 36-
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CHEOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Finandal risk management {continued)

(=) Market price risk (continued)

Ad at 3 December 3018
Investmend i the Tnvestee Funds

Tmpa-ct to the
comzolidabed
sintament of
corpreEhantive
Farwahee Relevantride Reagoruble possible Lnecoamet
Invresiee Funds HES wansbles shift m rule HES
China Southem Dragon T2IEREET  Hotapplicsble +- 8% 0,290 50
Drpraare Fund - BME (Hote)
High Tisld Bond Fund
CEOF Siplewsy Chira 16430865 Hot applicable +H- 1 H-1 543 06T
Value Elits Fund 2P {Mobed
CEOP Hong Kong Dolls A5, 204400 Mol applicabls . 10R% w4 629 430
Iomey Mot ETF Hote)
CEOF Olobal Cuuart 15,670,332 Mot applicable +. 1R .1 567,033
Alloedtsen Fund 1 5P (Hote)
Other ETF 05817 Mot applicable H- 10 0,552
(Toley
Others @485 Hotapplicable +- 10R% +-30,868
(Hola)
152,230,796 +-15,223 550

Note: Management considers that these investments in the Subsidiary Funds by the Group and
Investee Funds are not directly correlaied to any index. As such, relevant risk varables are not
considered as applicable.
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CHEOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

3 Finandal risk management {continued)
(=) Market price risk (continued)
The exposure 1o investments in Subsidiary Funds and Investee Funds at fair value by strategy

employed is disclosed in the following table. These invesments are included in financial assets ot far
value through profit or logs in the consolidated gtatement of financial position.

As nf 31 December 2019

Subsidiary Funds
et aset valae v estrmert
Humber of of Ipredes Fund far wahs Ya ofnat assals of the
Strabesy Lrvir el Flired HEE HECE Dok
Foned mcome X 28201 million I3 RE0 4T3 &3 T
234 380425
Invester Funds
Kot azset valoe Lnwestrerend
Humber of of iweses find frvalue % olne asmts of the
Strabegy iy estee furpds HES HES Circum
Equaty longishost i 58 mullen 14,425 113 3%
Index tracing & €2 5 Emulean 245 57,078 &5 %%
22 AIE31T
A% at 3] December 2013
Subsidiary Fimds
Het asset valae Irevestrnent
Humber of of Inrestes Pund farvale %% olnet sssets of the
Shrak; v estee Funds HES HES Group
Foned gicoms z 50-193 Million ZIHINEASE a4 8%
Equty longishest 3 15112 Millicn e 465058 19.1%%
321,785,714
Tinvestee Funds
Hel assd valus Irwestmert
Humber of of inwerter fund farvahie % ofnet aasets of the
Sirabasy 1 e fired s HIE HEE rcim
Foed mcome ] 25 hilhon T2 56T 14 5%
Equaty locgishent 4 1345 MilThen 12 AD8 820 S48
Index tracing x 8.2 798 M lon 45,200 217 23
152, 235,756
e
=38
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(a)

(b)

Finandal risk management {continued)

Market price risk (continued)
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There were exposures to Company's direct investments representing over 5% of the Group's net assets

at reporting date. The table below sumumarnises those investments.

et E]
% of net nesets o of net assets
_Name of the invegments HES of the Group HE S of the Groug
CR0P Select US Dollar Bond Fund 191 407 843 35. 7% 177 949011 A5 3%
Ching Southern Dragon Dynandc
Fund - RMB High Yield Bond Fund
{"CHBB") - 7919 897 14 5%
CHOPF BMB Money Market ETF
{formerly known as CSOP China
Ultra Short<Term Bond ETF) 41952 582 BMa 47 367 647 LELN
CHOP China Inbelligence A- Share
Fund ET1EE1TD 17 30%
CSOP Hong Kong Dollar Money
Market ETF 140198950 26.1%% A5 204 ADD D10y
CHOP U5 Drollar Money Markel ETF B 405654 17.6% - .

Interest rate risk

Interest rate nisk is the rsk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

Auctuate due to changes in mearket imterest rates,

Asgat 31 December 2019, the only financial assets subject to floating interest rates are bank balances.
Given that the interest ansing from the bank balances i immatersal, the Group 1 not subject to
sigm ficant amount of risk due to luctumtions in the prevailing levels of market interest rates,
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CHEOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

3 Finandal risk management {continued)
by Interest rate risk {(continued)

The following table details the Group's exposure to inferest rate risk categorised by the earlier of
contractual reprising or maturity dates.

As al 31 December 2019

hisburdy Matunky Maburdy Hon-intered
Lip bo | year 1.5 pears oer S yeErs besariryg Tedal
HES HES HES HES HES$
Financial Assets
Frsancial assets ab far valus
through proft or loss 359414,534 TEFE St - 33IM Ere A BN
At digs from arereduste
hnlxims ooy = '] i I6Z 593 162 353
Other cecavables - - f0,460,693 &0 460,693
Cash and cash equrslents 1081 18,447 . - - 118, 188467
Total Maanckal asees 477,535,003 179,524 584 - 113 897 032 721,357 49%
Financial Labilties
Firunietal labaltees at far value
theough profit or loss - - - 3244361 2,254,361
Aocenisd lababties and other
payables . . . 118,292 305 118,802 395
Hon-conirolling inbmests
denred Erorn i estrent
Bunds . - 14,875,033 14,875,033
Lease liahilies 17,642,209 11,500,321 - - 29,142 530
Total Mnancial Habilkies 17,542 209 11,500,311 a 135,021,788 165 164 309
Tobal inberest senbivily gap 459,892,750 11 E424, 243
L
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

3 Finandal risk management {continued)
by Interest rate risk {(continued)

Asat 31 December 2018

Misturdy Matunty hEaburdy Hon-mieres
upilol pear 1-5 pears e S YRy bearing Total
HEZL HES HEE HEE HEE
Financlal Asses
Forcial assets o i value
theousgh peofit or loss 22E 9B ADD 109,582,241 I8 080 102,730,695 470,467 425
Crther récégrables . . - 43,052 551 48,052 851
Cazh and cash equiwalents IO AR 0T - - - 300 254,073
Totsl Minanckal asses SIRATDAE 109,522 241 M¥278.0e0 130,783 346 824 004,349
Fitancial LEabilities
Fingncial lababfses ad Fair value
theeagh profit or boss E . - 212,746 202,746
Aot dus to rnmedmbe
habimg comgpany . . . M3 395 43,395
Accrued lmbalitier and other
payibles F . . 0,008,851 0,028,851
Dhwidend paysble E a s 163 520,000 163,520,000
Mom-controlling irtenests
denved froem v estrment
fands - - - 3,598,165 31,5958, 768
Tonal Mnancial liakilkies - - - 288,703 757 286,703,757
Total Interest sensitivity gap S AL AE2 108,522,241 3 zra0e0

(<) Credit and counterparty risk

Credit and counterparty risk is the risk that an issuer or counterpany 1o a financial instrument will
canse the Group financial loss by failing to discharge its obligations. The Group seeks to minimise
this risk of loss by monitoring the selection of counterparties and by minimizing the reliance placed
on individual connterparnties.

The Group maintains a list of approved brokers selected to manage the risk that a broker may fail and
lead toa loss on trade. All transactions in listed investiments are settled on a delivery versus payment
basis using approved brokers, The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold
is only made when the Group's custodian banks have received payment. For a purchase. payment is
made once the securities have been received by the Group's custodian banks. The trade will fail if
either party fails to meet their obligation,

241 -
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()

Finandal risk management {continued)

Credit and counterparty risk (continued})
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The Group is also exposed toinvestments in debt secunties as 8t 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2008, The Manager will actively manage the portfolo of the Group, In case of credit mting
downgrading. the Manager will adjust the positions in the port folio u=ing its credit analy=is and rating
systems that are designed to manage credit nsks.

The table below summarises the credit rating of the investment portfolio issued by credit rating
agencies as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2013:

Credit rating category of debt securities:

Credit rating ageney

Moody
S&P
Unrated

Credit rating agency

Moy
S&F
Unrated

Rating

Bl to Aa2
B-to A+

Bating

Bl to Aa2
B- to A+

affdu
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HKS %0 of net azseta
3,857,979 0.7
54063 452 1008
183,325,918 3407
241,247,349 44.97%
20018
HKS % of net assets
THETI. M6 1523
101,390,017 2000
44,148,931 £75%
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

3 Finandal risk management {continued)
() Credit and counterparty risk (continued})

The following tables swmmanise the assets placed with connterparties as at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018 and their respective credit matings

2019 2018
HES HKS
i A0 Ead] BORR Y 3IETHLS
Industrial and Comunercial Bank of China (Asia) 101,272 166 227,975,464
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Singapore Branch 2,867 579 .
The HongKong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited &4.496 4,228,865
China Merchants Bank Co. Lid, 6,840,824 6884910
Chira Construction Bank Corp. 20,984 10,229,975
DBS Bank Singapore 2,914,845 .
Haitong Intemnational Securities Company Limited 505,158 489,777
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited 2,647 20,726,226
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 1,437,905 22.578,875
Haitong International Futures Company Limited 2,263,736 3,269,781
117,944, 3440 305,393 B3
inancia ir value throu rofi 5,
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited - 165,731,789
China Construction Bank Corp, 194,322,539 -
Citibank Europe ple (Formerly known as Citibank International

plc {Luxemnbourg Branch))y - 71920807
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited 16,429,233 93,115,586
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Ireland) Liomited - B0A82,004
Brown Brothers Harmiman & Co. TET 584 05,817
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited - 46,168,654
Haitong Intermational Futures Company Limited - 54,257
Haitong Intemational Securities Company Limited 292,124,304 -
Fulu Securities Intermational (Hong Keng) Limited - 308 685
China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd. 13,396,146 6,847,752
China Foreign Econormy And Trade Trust Co., Lid 5,555 040 4,222 804
522,615,746 470,467,425

-43-
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

3 Finandal risk management {continued)

() Credit and counterparty risk (continued)
psure to brokers and custod ian banks as at vear end

2019 it} b3
HES HEKS
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited 2,647 195,458,015
Chima Censtruction Bank Corp. 194,343,523 10,220 975
China Merchants Bank Co. Ltd 20,236,970 13,742,662
Citibank Europe Ple (Formerly known as Citibank Intemational
ple (Lictembourg Branch)) - 72,920 897
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. TE7. 584 605 817
Haitong Intermational Secunties Company Lonited 202 629462 480,777
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited 16,429,233 93,115,586
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (reland) Limited - 0482003
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) 101,272,166 227,975,465
Industrial and Commmercial Bank of China, Singapore Branch 2,667,579 -
‘The Hengkong and Shanghai Banking Cormporation Limited 4,450 4,218 865
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited 1,437,905 68,747 520
China Foreign Econoany and Trade Truest Co., Ltd 5,555,040 4,222,854
Haitong Intermational Futures Comparmy Limited 2,263,736 3,324,038
Futu Securities International (Hong Kong) Limited - 308,685
UBS AG - 1,375,501
DBS Bank Singapore 2,014,845 -
R0, 506, 086 777,236,790
it ratinees of the brokers and custodian banks as a8 vear end 2019 018
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited A A
China Construction Bank Corp. A A
China Merchants Bank BBE+ BBE+
Citibank Evrepe PloiFormerly known as Citibank Intermational
ple (Lacembourg Branchi) At At
Brown Brothers Harmiman and Co. At At
Haitong Intermational Securities Company Limited Unrated® Unrated"
HEBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited Urirated® Unrated?
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Ireland) Limited Unrated® Unrated?
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) A A
Industrial and Comenercial Bank of China, Singapere Branch A -
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Comoration Limited AA- Ad-
HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited At At
Haitong Intermaticnal Futures Compary Limited Unrated* Unrated®
Futu Securities Intemational (Hong Koeng) Lirmited NA MNA
UBS AG A+ A+
DBS Bank Singapore AA- -

Information of the above credit ratings are taken from Fitch, Moody and Standard & Poor's (5&P)
lomg-term issuer credil mating,

Haitong International Securities Group Limited and Haitong Futures Intermational Company Linted
which 15 the immediate holding company of Haitong Infemational Securities Company Limited rated
as BBE (20 15:BBB ) by 5&F.

-4 -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

3 Finandal risk management {continued)
() Credit and counterparty risk {continued)

! HSBC Holdings Ple, the ultimate holding company of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Ireland)
Limited and HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited, was rated as A (2018; A) by S&P,

The maximum exposure to credit rsk at yvear end date is the carrving amonnt of the financial assets
as shown on the consolidated balance sheet,

(@)  Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk when it encounters difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with financial liabalities. It manages hogudity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents.

The Group is exposed to daily redempiions of units in the Investee Funds. The Funds invest the
majority of its assets in securities that are traded in an active market which can be readily disposed of.

The table below analyses the Group's financial assets and habilities into relevant matunty groupings
baged on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual matrity date as at 31 December
2009 and 31 December 2018, The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows, Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting

iz not significant.
AL December 2019
Lessthan Mo maburdy
& ervorths Parsod Tetal
HES HES HES
Financial Liabiliis
Firancial liabslties & Guir valoe theough
prof o loss 2,254,361 2,254 361
Acarysd Labalshes and -;\ﬂu:'p;:.rabk: 116,548,004 El Tha 058
Hen-conteolling indereas dermad Bom
mvesiment finds . 14575033 F4ETS 053
Totalfnancial labilieies 119202415 14,875,033 138077 448
TodalMmancil sssets 721 357 499 - 121,357 499

L.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

(d)

(e

Finandal risk management (continued)

Liguidity risk
A3 Decembrer 2018
Lazsthan Ho maturgy
& eronths Period Tekal
HEE HES HEZ
Financial Linbilities
Firancial liabalities a2 fuir vabue theough prafit
of Jost 202,746 . 212,746
Arnount due boommedate ho&dqu; coeTp any 543 395 = LY 355
#ecnued fiabildies s other paysbles £9, B2 430 - EREHLAR0
Drvidend payable 163, 520,000 163, 520,000
Hon-controlling eterests derived from
e estmment funds . 51998765 515987465
Total Mnancial labk il ies 234, 558,571 1998 TES 286,557,336
Total fnancisl sseets 24,004 349 - B34 0 345
Forelgn exchange risk

The functional currency of the Group is Hong Kong dollars ("HE dollar=" ). The Group is therefore
exposed to foreign exchange risk, as the value of the assets denominated in other currencies will
fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates.

The Gronp's transactions, assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in United States dollars ("US
dollars"), HK dollars, Renminbi ("RMB"), Euwro ("EUR"), Australian dollar {("AUD") and Singapore
dollar {*$GD™). Assets and liabilities denominated in US dollars is not considered as subject to foreign
exchange risk as it is comently pegged to the HK dollars within a narrow range.

The table below summarises the Group's monetary and non-monetary exposure 1o currency risks,
excluding forward foreign exchange contracts and the impact on net assets showld the currencies have
strengthened or weakened by 500 basis points or 5% against the Hong Kong dollars, with all other
varables remaining constant, as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018,

At 31 December 2009

Original currencles RMB EUR AUD SGD
HEKS HES HES HEE

Asgels

Monetary assets 84,584 201 401,622 2,621,389 2,669,132

Mon-monetary assels 166, 782 450 283,627 - 1316123

Liabilities

MNon-menctary liabilities (1.132,736) . - {B08,753)

Met exposure 501,233,055 B85, 240 2,621,389 3,376,502

.
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Finandal risk management (continued)
() Foredgn exchange risk (Continued)
At 31 December 201%

Original currendes REMB EUR AUD 5GD
HES HES HES HES

Impact on net assets attributable to
SWTIET

Estimated basiz point change in the

relevant exchange rate of the foreign 500 basis 500 bazis 5000 basis 500 hasis
currency against Hong Kong dollars points points points points
Monctary 4,229,210 20,081 131,069 133,457
MNon-monclary 8282488 14,181 - 35,3690

Al 31 December 20018

Original currencies REMB EUR ALUD
HES HES HKS

Assels

Mometary assets 133,570,880 358,510 4,214,232

Mon-monelary assels 136,527,201 10136468 =

Liabilitles

Mon-menetary labilities (1,543 519

Mel exposure 268,563,571 10,494 978 4,214,232

At 31 December 2018

Original currencies RMB EUR AL
HEE HES HES

Impact on net assefs attributable (o owner
Estimated basis poimt change in the relevam

exchange rate of the foreign cumency against 500 basis

Heng Kong dollars points 500 basis points 500 basis points
Monetary 6,678,994 17,926 210,712
Mon-monetary 6,749,184 506,823 -

a7
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Financial risk management (continued)
(n Capital management

The Group's objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern in order 1o provide retns for shareholders and (o maintain an oplimal capital siructure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital smeture and makes adjostments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to sharcholders, returm capital o shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets (o reduce debd, Mo
changes in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital wers made during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018,

Asal 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Groupis licensed to camry oul regulated activities
of type 1 dealing in securities (" Type 17} type 4 advising on secunities (" Type 47} and type % asset
management (*Type ) under the Hong Kong Secunties and Futures Ordinance. As a result, the
Group is subject to capital requirements on the paid-up capital and liguid capital and files financial
retums with the Secunties and Futures Commussion on a monthly basis,

gy Fair value estimati on

The Group measures financial assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,

The fair value of fimancial assets traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and
trading secunities) are based on queded market prices at the close of trading on the reporting date. The
Group utilises the last traded market price for both financial assets and labilites,

An active market 15 a market in which transactions for the asset or hability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted ) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly of indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation technigues for which the lowest level inpa that is significant to the fair
value measuremerd is unobservable

For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed apainst the fair value measurement in its
entirety, Ifa fair value measurement wses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based
on unobservable inputs, that measurement s a level 3 measurement,  Assessing the significance of a
pamticular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, considering factors
specific to the asset or liability,

48 -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

(g

Financial risk management (continued)
Fair value estimation {continued})

The determination of what constities “observable” requires sigm ficant judgment by the Group., The
Group considers observable data 1o be that market data that is readily svailable, regularly distnbuted
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary. and provided by independent sources that are
actively involved in the relevant market.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial satements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
catggonzation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Group's financial assets and liabilities
(b class) measured at Fair value gt periodvear end date;

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HKS HES HEKS
At 31 December 2019
Assets
Fimancial assets at far vahoe through
profit oF loss:
Listed equity investment 4,138,720 . - 4,138,720
Listed mvestment fimds 241,848,358 - e 241,818,158
Un listed imvestrment fumds - 16429233 - 16,429,233
Debt securities . 241,247,349 - 241,247,349
Unlisted investment products . 18,952 (8a - 18,952,086
Total 45987078 276,628,608 - S22.615,746
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss:
Listed equity nvestment 2065 360 - - 20659, 360
Derivative financial mvestment 185,001 - - 185,001
Total 2,254 361 : . 2,254,361
| I r————3 e ——,
T
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

X Financial risk management (continued)
(g Fair value estimation {continued})
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HES HEE HKS HKS
Al 31 December 2018
Assels
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss:
Listed equity investrment 83,900,004 - - B3, 500,004
Listed investment finds 46,900,217 . - 46,900,217
Unlisted investment funds - 103,339,579 = 105,339,579
Deln securities - 222412914 - 222412914
Lizsted oplions T8O 808 - - THDBOE
Deenvative fimancial investrment 54,257 - - 54,157
Unlisted investment products . 11,070,646 - 11,070,646
Total 131,644,286 338,823,139 - 470467425

Irvestments which values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified
within level 1, includes listed equity investments and exchange traded funds. The Group does not
adjust the quoted price for these instruments.

Financial instramenis that traded in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based
om quoted market prices, dealer quotations or altermnative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs such as equities and foreign curmency contracts are classified within level 2,

[nvestment s classified within level 3 have sigmificant unobservable impss, @5 they trade infrequent]y,
Asat 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, no level 3 investment was held by the Group.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

ludgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements apant from those involving estimations which have the most significant effect on the
amounis recognised in the financial statements.

(a) Ingome taxes
Significant judgements on the future tax treatment of cemain transactions are required in
determining income tax provisions. The Group careflly evaluates tax implications of transactions
and tax provisions are recorded accordingly, The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislation,

The key assumptions concerning the fiture and other key sources of estimation uncenainty af the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a matenial adjustment to the camrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear, are described below:

= 50 -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

4. Critical acconnting estimates and judgements (continued)

{a) Investments in other investment funds
The Group's investments in investment funds are stated with reference to the net asset value
provided by the respective administrators of the investment funds as determined by the Directors,
IT the net asset value of the invedment funds is not avalable or the Directors consider that such
net asset value is not reflective of fair value, the Directors may exercise their judgement and
discretion to determine the fair value of the investment funds. The Directors consider that the
above valuation approach is the best estimate of fair value of the investment funds,

(b Investments in derivative financial instrumenis
The Group may, from time (o time, hold financial instruments that are not quoted in active
mearkets, such as over-the-counter {(*OTC™) derivatives. The Group will receive the prices directly
from the executing brokers for OTC securities on fair values of such instruments. During the year
ended 31 December 2019 and vear ended 31 December 2018, the Group had not held any OTC
derivatives.

In cases where the financial instrument is quoted in more than one stock exchange, the last traded
prce from the stock exchange which the secuniy 15 traded on is taken.

A Finandal instruments by category

Apan from financial assets at fair value throngh profit or loss as disclosed in the consolidated balance
gheet which are classified as held-for<4rading, all other financial assets as disclosed in the consolidated
balance sheet, including other receivables, deposit and cash amd cash equivalents, are categorised as
"lesans and receivables".

Apart from fnancial liabilities & far value through profit or loss as disclosed in the consolidated
balance sheet which are classified as held-for<rading. all other financial liabilities as disclosed in the
consolidated balance sheet, including amount due to immediate holding company. accmed liabilities
and other payables, and amound due to third panty investors are categorised as “other financial
liabilities",

6. Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits ansing in Hong Kong for the year.

201% 2018

HES HES
Provision for the year 21,155,144 7,803,793
D ferred tax (Note T) {1,042,438) (245,039)
Reversal of overprovision of prior yvears {1,328,684) -
Tax expenses 18,784,022 7,558,754

- 5] -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

[ Income Tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax af the statutory rate 1o the 1oy expense
at the effective tax rate is as follows:

2019 2018
HES HES
Profit before 1ax 132,882,112 46,544,039
Tax calenlated at local rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) 21,925,549 7679767
Income not subject Lo tax (6,765,351} {6,143, 103)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6,514,367 6,015,703
Cwverprovision of prior years (1,328,684) -
Defemred tax (MNote 7) (1.042.438) {245,039
Orthers (519,391} 256,426
Tax charge at the effective rate of 14.1%
{31 December 2018 16.2%) 18,784,022 75587
7. Deferved tax assels
2019 2018
HES HES
Deferred tax assets 1,746,579 704,141

The movement of the Group's deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

Accelerated tax

depreciation

HES

At 1 January 2018 459,102
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income 245,039

AL December 2018 and

1 January 2019 T, 141
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loes amd

other comprehensive income 1,042,438

AL 3] December 2019 1.746,579

.52
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

B Property and equipment
Fuamifure Office Leasthold Comstrudtion
and fixhures equipment improvements  Maobor vehicle in progress Todal
HES HES HES HES HES HES
Yesr ended
i1 December
2019
Oprening net book
o 26,408 977,520 - 508220 - 112,148
Currency
translation -
differences 154 173,326 (43,5939 (9,742) 119,709
Additions 40,B68 1,057,267 2.B62 208 - 245 569 4,206 002
Depredation (25,855) (701,704} (11,422) [260,263) - {1.098,244)
Clodng nel book
A 41,573 1,504,408 2,707 837 13E215 245 369 4,738,705
At 31 December
e
Cod TA6,163 7,016,014 11,107 D&l 1677 076 245 569 0,791 BE3
Agcumulated
depreciation (704 SEE) (5. 5040605 ) (8251 24) (1 AXE.EGLY . (16.052.178)
Net baok amcunt 41,575 1,506 409 2,707 937 IR 215 245 569 4,739,705
Yea ended
11 December
2018
Opening net book
amotnt T1E.568 1,453,218 BI3 DGR BERTIT - 32164471
Currency
tran s ation .
differences . 16,171 242 (15034 5 6T0
Adbditions . 21079 204 000 - . TIS 079
Diepredation (92, 160) (TH0L667 ) {1,055 838) (335, 463) - (2.234,128)
L spoesl - (262,281 (6.672) - - (268.953)
Clesing net boak
amakl 26,408 977520 = SOE2 M o 1512148
At 31 December
201%
Cod TO5 118 5001 360 B AGT D56 1,713 510 - 16,877 084
Accumulated
depreciation (678,710 (5,003,840 (BABT D0E) (1,205, 2500 E (15.364.936)
Het book amount 16,408 977,520 - S0E220 - 1512148
-53.
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9. Leases
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The Grounp has lease contract for its office used in its operations under operating lease arrangements.
Lease for the propenty is negotiated for terms of three vears. The Group’s obligations under its lease
are secured by the lessors title to the leased assets, Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning

and subleasing the leased assets

Set ond below are the camrying amounts of dght-of-use assets recognised and the movements duning

the year:

Company  CSOP Singapore Todal

HES HES HES

As at 1 January 2019 38,615,190 = 38,615,190
Addition - 6,003,825 6,003,328
Depreciation expense (15,446,076) {1.158.376) (16,604,452)
Exchange difference - 169,615 169,615
As at 31 December 2019 23,169,114 5015067 28,184,181

Set ot below are the camying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year

Company  CSOP Singapore Total

HKS HES HEKS

Asat 1 Januwary 2019 38,615,190 - 38,615,190
Addition - 6,003,828 6,003,828
Agccretion of interest 1,930,761 113,328 2,044,089
Paymenis (16,814,060} (768,062) (17.582,152)
Exchange difference - 61.575 61,575
As ai 31 December 2019 23,731,861 5410665 20,142,530
Current 15627495 2,014,714 17,642,209
Nom=current 8,104,366 3,395,955 11,500,321
As al 31 December 2019 23,731,861 5410669 29,142,530

-54.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

Leases (continued)

Maturity profile of lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019
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Company CSOP Singapore Todal

HES HES HES

Within one year 16,514,088 2196465 19,010,553

After one vear bt within five vears 8407044 3A477.736 11,584,780

L ease habibities (undizcounted) 25,221,132 5,674,201 30,895,333

Digcount smmount (1,489,271) (263.532) (1,752,803)

Lease liabilities [ discounted) 23,731,861 5.4 10,668 29,142,530

Current 15,627 495 2,014,714 17,642,209

N E L]

MNon-current #1040, 3066 3,385,955 11,500,321
The following are the amounis recognised in profit or loss:

Company  CS0P Singapore Total

HE3: HES HES

Depreciation expense of nght-of-use assets 15446076 1,158,376 16,604 452

Inferest expense on lease liabilities 1,930,761 113328 2,044 089

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 17.376,837 1,271,704 18,648,541

The Group had total cash outflows for lease of HKS 18,024,566 during the vear ended 31 December

20019 (HKE8, 850,260 during the year ended 31 December 2018).

- 55.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

10.

(al

Investment in subsidiaries and associates

Tovestment in priveipal subsidiories

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 Decermber 201%:

Hins

DHF & Ca, L4

CE0P [nvrement
Imsterpatianal Limabed

CEOP Indbces
Crargany Lemusd

CEOP Aseet
Mlanagemery Fre
Lemeted.

CEOP Gelent U5
Drollar Band Fuad

CE0P EMB Money
Blarkost ETE
(Foammesly borervem
CHOP Clama Ulra
Short Term Bond
ETF)

Elxzof
i

Boash Yicgs
lataeds

Brissh Virps
Ielaeedn

Singapore

Heng Eong

Hang Kong

Jsi=rATT R

Te prowde rab-licence for uie of
rademask

T provade imvesiment m ndgraint

sErces

To provade irvestment m mageerent
e

Té provade imvestmmt m s igrened
BETACE

Imvested pnoandy in VST deneminated
e preunses

Invesed in RME-devamunated and
settled shomaem dzpents ard kigh
epaadity svon ey ket 0 EnUmE Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

10. Investment in subsidiaries and associates (Continued)

fal Tovestments in principal subsidiaries {Contimed)

The following i=s a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 20138:

Heeof
Humne igsespoeings
DHF & o, Lad Bavssh ¥irgm
[xkmeely
CEOF lnvedtm it Shenzhe
[mbernatonal Limatsd
CEOP [ndces Bassh Vicpm
Comgany Lamited Iz
CEOP Asiet Fingeporn
Management Fie
Lemated
CEOF Select 115 Hong Eong
Duller Band Fusd
CROP Chame Uers Heng Kong
Thoet- Torss Bond
ETF
CEOP Chesg Eelmd
Imtelhigence A-Share
Fund
U3 Tech Sraegy Caymas
Fund llieds

Erascipd smwies

Té provade esb-licence for ude of
trademerk

Te provde investment managrenmn!
SETVICES

Te prvade e stment managrermt
Ermced

T provade urrestmmt m nigenend
BEIVCE

Inwested im the Greaber Chima Region to
wiieve lagtam wnd sable sncome md
cupital growth

Ie#rdted i the FRC Grromment wd
Folacy Bank Boadeincluded an the Inde
thevagh the BQFH investment qoota
grmbed bo the Manager by the SAFE

[zvesed i Cluns A-Shiees Hined on the
PR Stock Exckmiges theoagh the
Invememt Maniga's ROFI] qeota to
b e v o 0 Do e copad
IR

Feveand i US zied toch stocks ind
Heted singht Mocks pat aps ot o sdbacve
Tomsg-term captad spprecabon and
cotral the mammum b

Exuculary ofisued
thwesheld

1 urreed shige wth o wales of
HER]

10,000,000 igroed dhiree wih p
wvalueof CHYL

1 isrued shame wth par wales of
1]

1 verued shige wath par vidoe of
8GM

EAYLI0A ot of . TIL 545 1emed
fedenable penopeiag b wih
o par value

73T ot of 2R5.000 1 eeatd
redeanatls ptapaing wats with
nopr value

67,955 ot of 651,419  amsed
redeematls pahapaing unts vt
oo par value

12,500 cut of 25,000 faned
parscipanng wits with 5o par value
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Earecly lndiectly

1%

Mole: During the vear 31 Decernber 2018, the Group disposed the Shenzhen Chianhal CSOP Asset Management Limited,
which is an indirectly owned subsidiary,
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

10. Investment in subsidiaries and associates (Continued)
il Tonvestmens in associales

The associates of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, which
the Darectors consider they are matenal 1o the Company, are as follows:

B of eabiry Pe ofbunsenl  Yolewmerdug inleres Hahge  of  Msiasiament Fias vl
[ZIENLY of relaizepetep b
incospraahos
2ms 2018 e 2018
% % HES HES
CEOP Heng Komg Dolla Hong Komg £44 1.6% Associabe Farvalue 140,198 350 A EFA00
Moy Market EFF
China Southes Dragon Luxembourg - 56T Ampciae Faur value s T IRENT
Dofocamize Fusd - RME Hhigh
Yeeld Boed Fusd
CEOP Smplewsy Chans Cuymas 2 103 LELEE Fier walue - L6 4315565
Value Elste Fend SP
C20P Clchd Quant Cayman A% Lt Ampoiae Fiar value 1429, 293 15 AT SN
#Alistaien Fund | 5P
C20PUS Duollar Money Hong Fomg 1345 * Amocide Fer value B ATE 6
Marieet
\ C20P MSCT Chana A Heng Eomg 9047 . Amociade Frer value 4365170

hsduses Index ETF

The tables below provide summarised unandited financial information for those associates that are
material (o the Group, The mformation disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the umadited
financial satements of the relevant associates, and not the Group's share of those amounis. The
unandited financial statements of C3OP Global Quant Allocation Fund 1 5P is prepared in accordance
with [FRS and the unandited firancial statements of CSOP US Dollar Money Market ETF, CS0OP
MSCI China A Inclusion Index ETF and CSOP Hong Kong Dollar Money Market ETF are prepared
in accordance with HKFRS.
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CHEOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

10. Investments in subsidiaries and assodates (Continued)

fel Trvestments in assocfates (Contirwed)

CE0F Hong Kong Dollar Mm-::,r Chmna Southem Dmpnn D:,m-mc

Lisrdcet ETF Fund - BEME High Tield Bond
Fund
Fih ] 2008 2019 2018
HFE EEE H¥E HES
Surmrmerised bakaryce sheest
Cummant asas 2541612 939 21T 335003 . o7 286458
Cusrent lighildies T05.931 1,385,067 . 12,107,174
Sumrnesised stabernert of
cofrprebinsTe nooe
Hed increaze’(deorea 2o el azsets (199,548 9320 16,555 454 . (T 030, 445)
fio thee e
C2OF 13 Dollar Moeey Badost CROPMECT Chena A Inchimon
Index ETF
200 2008 2019 2018
HES HES HES HES
Sumsmarised balinos duss
Cusrent assets 954,501 656 - 15,530,559
Cugrent ligbilikies - - 142, 655%
Summeeized sabamert of
corprehennATe nooTE
Het increase/(decrease) i noet azseks 5,5 e - (21,330,106}
fior the year

CEOF Simpleway Chma Valie
Elte Fumd P
e 2018
HES HEE
F228563 444
51,623,064
O, 508 88

C20F Olobsl Quant Allocateon

Fund 159
2019 2018
HES HES
241 38,643 243065823
2214291 18,038
1308524 18038

MNote:  During the vear 31 December 2019, the Group disposed the investments in China Sowthemn Dragon
Dynamic Fund - RMB High Yield Bond Fund and C30P Simpleway China Value Elite Fund SP.
CSOP US Dollar Money Market ETF and CSOP MSCI China A Inclusion Index ETF are new

mvedments during the vear,

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, the Group did not receive any

dividends from ils associales.

- 50 .
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M DECEMBER 2019

11. Prepayment, deposits, other receivables
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The camying amounts of other receivables, which approximate Lo their fair values, are as follows:

Renal deposits

Management fee and performance fee receivable
Prepayments

Amount due from broker

Interest receivable

Other accounts receivable

i) B 2018

HKS HES
6,183,745 5,593,690
65,742,668 13,015,235
1063001 1,048,239

& 1,375,501

31774584 3,326,347
5,356,796 4,742,078
81,523,694 49,101,090

Included in the Gronp’s management fee and performance fee receivable were debtors with carrying
amounts of HK$65, 742,668 (31 December 2018 HK$33.015.235) which were not vel due and fully

performing.

Their recoverability was assessed with reference 1o the credit status of the debitors, and the expected
credit 1oss as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 is considered 1o be minimal.

There was no impairment for management fee and performance fee receivable as of 31 December
2009 and 31 December 2018, The Group does not hold any collateral over this balance,

= {3 =

302/346



EDINETOOOO
OO00D0O00o0O00D0bDO000DO0Odnoo(E27318)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

11. Share capital

Asummary of the movements in the Group's share capital is as follows:

Murmber of
Mote  Shares in issue Share capatal
HES
Asat | Jamary 2018, 31 December 2018
and 1 January 2019 200,000,004 284,266,666
[s=uance of shares (a) 66,666,667 134, 666,667

Az at 3] December 2019 (b} 266,666,667 415,933,333

(a)  Cm 31 July 2019, the Company issued 66,666,667 shares to a new shareholder, Kingston
Smart Limited, at a consideration of HKS134 666,667, which was fully paid as at 31
December 2009, As at 31 December 2019, Kingston Smart Limited held the Company's
shares under a discretionary trusl with cenain employees of the Company being the grantees
of nghts.

(by A breakdown of the Group's share capital at par value and share premium is as follows:

HES
Share capital at par value 337,777,778
Share premium 81,155,555
Total share capital 418,933,333

13 Dividend

On 26 March 2020, the Company declared 2019 anmual dividend distribution in an aggregate amount
of HKS125,629,614 (12 March 2019: HKS218,000,000) to the shareholders of the Company.

Nodividend payable was outstanding as at 31 December 2019 {31 December 20 18: HKS 163,520,000 ),

=] =
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

14.

Cash generated from operations

{a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to net cash generated from operating activities:

Profit before tax
Adjustments for;
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {Note 5)
- Finance costs
- Interest income
- Dhividend income
- Disposal of property, plant & equipment
- Disposal gain on subsidiary
- Decrease in available-for-sale financial assets
- Net {gainsylosses on financial assets and liabilities af fair
value through profit or loss
= Depreciation of nght-of-use assets (Note 9)
- {Decrease VIncrease in other receivables
- Decrease in margin deposit and cash at prime broker
= Ingrease in amount due from immediate holding
COMpany
- {Decrease Vincrease in amount due to immediate holding
COTpany
= Increase/{decreasze) in aceneed Labilines and other

payables
= Drecrease in amount due (o third party investors

Cash generated from operating activities
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{b) Reconciliation of non-controlling interests derived from investment funds

AL 1 January

Financing cash flows:
Payment of redemption of shares of subsidiary fitids
Proceeds from subscription of shares of subsidiary fnds

Non-cash transactions:
Recognition of a subsidiary fond
Derecognition of a subsidiary fund
Change in unrealised (loss yzain attnbutable (o the non-

controlling interests derived from nvestment funds

Exchange differences

At 31 December

- 62
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2019 2018

HKS HKS

132,882,112 16,544,039

1.098, 244 2,234,128

2,044,089 p
(18,288,162)  (18,373,192)
(638.816) {1,261,001)

- 268,953
% (1.279,503)

. 10,132,803

(22.941,306) 18,025,866

16,604,452 L

(31,693,472) 96,539,977

. 212,746

{162,593) .

(943,395) 275,096
48,863,544 (50,764,836)
(34,863,286) {9,295,709)

91,961,411 93,259,367

2019 2018

HKS HKS

51,998,765 55,353,227
(3.125,294) (3.855,628)

864,848 9,796,875

2 9,632,061

(34.631,973) -
(201,364)  (18.925414)
(29,949) (2.356)

14,875,033 51,998,765
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

15 Recondliation of labilities arising from finandng activities

Drividend
Lease liabilities payable
HEZ HES
At 1 January 2018 - 154,560 000
Changes from financing cash flows
Drividend paid - (31.440,0007
At 31 December 2018 (as origimally presented) - 163,520,000
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 44,619,018 -
At 1 January 20197 Angust 2019 (as restated) 44,619,018 163,520,000
Changes from financing cash flows
Principal portion of lease payments {15.414,913) -
Dividends paid = (3B1.520,000)
Other changes
Finance charges on lease liabilities 2,044,089 -
Interest pavment of lease habilities (2,04, 089) -
Final 2018 dividend - 218,000,000
Exchange differences (61.575) -
AL 31 December 2019 25,142,530 -
Revenue from contracts with customers
201% 2018
HKS HES
Revenue from contracts with customers
- Management fee income (Mote 20({bj) 298,763,030 261,006,570
- Performance fee income (Note 20(b)) 20,259,987 2,009,033
- Adivisory Fee income {Note 20{a)) 20,452,400 22,271,550
330475417 285,287,193
Other income 24,136,682 10,788,043
363,612,100 296,075,236

The performance obligation of all revenne from comtract with customers is safisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is due upon agreed payment terms. The performance income is
vanable consideration crystalised at last period end date of each investment product managed by the
Company. The amounts disclosed above do not include vanable consideration which 15 constrained.
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17.

18.
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Net gains/(losses) on finandal assets and liabilitles at fair value through profit or loss

Change in unrealised gains(losses) in value of financial
assets and liabilities @ fair value through profit or loss

Met realised gains{losses) on sale of financial assets and

linbilities at fair value through profit or loss

Operating expenses

Emplovee benefil expenses

Selling expenses & brokerage commission
Operating lease rental

Legal and professional fees

Fund operating expense

Advertising fees

Entertainment expense

Travelling expense

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {Note 8)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Mote 9)
Auditor's remuneration

Insurance expenses

Management fee

Trustee fee

Transaction costs

Directors' fees for subsidiany funds

Cther operating expenses

306/346

2019 2013
HES HKS
4,608,013 (33,014,913)
18,333,253 {17,356,454)
22.941.306 (50,371.367)
2019 2018
HES HEKS
143,219,567 104,246,234
43727693 30,056,667
- 19,378,084
2040625 1,746,081
12.234,424 12,884,673
8.829.263 7.015,763
1,894,524 2,157,347
2988772 3,022,729
109,244 2,234,125
16,604,452 -
1010434 204,242
730,307 415,848
130,332 249,121
255,531 348,305
334,423 1,039,262
85,983 83862
33.48],868 27,858,320
268.673,453 214,040,668
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

19, Commitmenis

The Group leases office, staff quarter and director's quarter under non-cancellable operating lease
apreements,

Prior to the adoption of HEFRS 16, as at 31 December 2018, the Group had total fiture mimimm
legse payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

2018 2018
HKS HKS

Mot later than one year - 16,931,317
Later than one yvear but not 1ater than five years - 25,221,132

- 42,152,449

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the present valoe of future min miom lease payments, which are no longer
disclosed as commitments as shown above, is recognised as rght-of-use assets. The comparative
information has not been resgated.

20, Related party transactions

In addirion to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the year.

The table below summarizes the transactions with related panies of the Group:

Motes 2019 2008

HKS HKS

Directors” emolument 22 15,780,000 12,000,000
Related party transactions during the year:

- Advisory fee income [EY] 3,626,947 1,709,120
- Management fee and performance fee income L] 313,846,987 254,731,263
- Consultancy fee expense ic) 1,136,368 1,185,563
- Issance of shares {dy 134,666,667 -
Related party transactions as at year end:

- Amount due o immediate holding company - 943,305
- Amount due from immediate holding company (<) 162,593 -

=65 .
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

20,

21,

Related party transactions (cont nued)
(a) Advizory fee income

The amount represents advisory fee income received from China Southem Fund Management
Co, Lud, the immediate holding company of the Group, for the provision of the adsvisory senace,

(b} Management fee and performance fee income

The Group received the management fee and performance fee income in the capacity of a
fund manager.

(c) Consultancy fee expense and amount due from immediate holding company

The amount due from immediate holding company mainly represents the consultancy fee
expense pavable to and the advisory fee receivable from the immediate holding company,

The amounts due from and due to immediate holding company are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed repayment terms.

idj Issuance of shares
Cm 31 July 2019, the Company issued 66,060,667 shares 10 a new shareholder, Kingston
Smart Limited, at a consideration of HKS134.666.667, which was fully paid as at 31
December 2019, As at 31 December 2019, Kingston Smart Limited held the Company's
shares under a discretionary trost with cenain employees of the Company being the gramees
of rights.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents of HKS118.118.467(2018: HKS305,484,073) represent cash in hand and
deposits held with banks as at 31 December 2015,

The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with authorised financial institdions as a result of its
normel business transactions. As at 31 December 2019, client monies not otherwise deali with in these

financial siatemems and treated as off-balance sheet item of the Group amounted to HKS624,929
(2018: HK3987,997),

= {3 =
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

21, Benefits and interests of directors

(a) Directors’ emoluments

2019 2018
HEKS HEKS
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
directors’ services as directors of the Company and
itz subsidiary undentakings:
Salary and fixed bonus 8,530,000 3,000,000
Discretionary bomses 7, 200,000 9,000,000
15,780,000 12,000,000

(b Directors” retirement benefits

There are retirement benefits and other retirement benefits were paid by the Company to the
director during the vear ended 31 December 2019 amounted to HES18,000 (2013: Nil) in
respect of the services as a director of the Company and its subsidiaries and other servicesin
commection with the management of the affairs of the Company of its subsidiary undemaking

respectively.

{c) Directors” termination benefits
Mo termination benefits were paid by the Company to the directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appoimtment by the Company, subsidianes of the Company amd the
comtrolling shareholder China Southem Fund Management Co. Ltd,, the immediate holding
company of the Company For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,

(dy Consideration provided 1o thind parties for making available directors’ services

Mo considerations were provided by the Company to thied parties for making available
directors’ services duning the vears ended 31 December 20015 and 2018,

(e) Directors” material interests in (ransaclions, ATANZeMENLs of contracts
Mo significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which the directors of the Company had a material

interest. whether directly or indirectly. subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 20138,

-67-
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

23 Balance sheet of the Company

2019 2018
HKS HKS
ASSETS
Non-current assels
Property, plant and equ prent 2,092 200 848,243
Right-of-use assels 23169114 -
Irwrestments in subsidiaries, at cost 42,740,024 25,346,630
Dreferred tax asset 635321 704,141
68,636,659 26,899.014
Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 496,776,736 474,075,767
Amounts due from subsidiares 11,522,146 9465653
Amounts due from immediate holding company 162,593 -
Prepayments. deposits and other receivables 68,538,765 36,746,241
Cash and bank balances 104, 150,306 232,244,910
681,150,546 T32,532.571
Total assels 749,787,205 TT9.431.585

=68 -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

23 Balance sheet of the Company (continued)

2019 2018
HKS HKS
EQUITY
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company
Share capital 418,933,333 284,266,666
Retained eamings 125,629,614 230,638,121
Total equity 544562947 514,904,787
LIABILITIES
Current Habilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2,254,361 -
Accrued liabilities and other payables 117,416,607 64445812
Lease liabilities 15,6274935 -
Drividend payable - 163, 520,000
Current tax liabilities 54,049,081 35,617,591
Amounts due to a subsidiany 7772348 E
Amounts due to immediate holding company - 943,395

197,119,892 264,526,798

Mon-current labilities

Lease liabilities 8,104,366 -

Total liabilitles 205,224,258 264,526,798

Total equity and labilities 749,787,205 779,431,585
- 68 -
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CSOP ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M DECEMBER 2019

4. Events after the reporting period

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors has evaluated subsequent events
occurring through to 26 March 2020, the date the consolidated financial statements were approved.

On 26 March 2020, the Company declared intenm dividend distribution in an aggregate amount of
HKS125,629.6 14 to the shareholders of the Group.

There are no other events or transactions have occurred or are pending that would have a material
effect on the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019,

25, Approval of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2020,

70
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HSBC ( ) (HSBC Ingtitutional Trust Services (Asia)

Limited)

() (2012 12 18 ) 50,000,000 (694,000,000 )

() 29
HSBC

(China Southern Asset Management Co. Limited)
(2012 12 18 ) 150,000,000 (2,269,500,000 )

(The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited)

() (2012 12 18 ) 58,968,707,252.5 (818,485,656,665 ) 10,233,500,000
(1,101,124,600,000 )

()
HSBC

HSBC ( ) (HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited)
() (2012 12 18 ) 12,400,000,000 (187,612,000,000 )
()

ABN AMRO (ABN AMRO Clearing Hong Kong Limited)
(Barclays Bank PLC) BNP (BNP Paribas Securities
Services) (BOCI Securities Limited) ( ) (China Galaxy
International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited) (China International Capital
Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited) ( ) (China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited)
(CIMB Securities Limited) ( ) (CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK) Limited)
(Citigroup Global Markets AsiaLimited) CLSA
(CLSA Limited) ( ) (Credit Suisse Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited) (Deutsche Securities Asia Limited) ( )
(Essence International Securities (Hong Kong) Limited) ( )
(Goldman Sachs (Asia) Securities Limited) ( ) (Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited) (Haitong International Securities Company Limited)
( ) (JP. Morgan Broking (Hong Kong) Limited) (KGI Asia Limited)
(Macquarie Bank Limited)
(Merrill Lynch Far East Limited) (Morgan Stanley
Hong Kong Securities Limited) ( ) (Nomura International (Hong Kong)
Limited) (Oriental Patron Securities Limited) ( ) (SG Securities (HK)
Limited) (The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited) UBS
(UBS Securities Hong Kong Limited) ( ) (Y uanta Securities (Hong
Kong) Company Limited)

*
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ABN AMRO (2012 19 )
(ABN AMRO Clearing Hong 269,300,000
Kong Limited) (3,737,884,000 )
(Barclays Bank PLC)
BNP (2015 12 31 )
(BNP Paribas Securities 178,000,000
Services) (20,708,520,000 )
(BOCI (2015 12 31 )
Securities Limited) 2,000,000,000
(27,760,000,000 )
( )
(China Galaxy International
Securities  (Hong Kong) Co.,
Limited)
(China (2015 12 31 )
International Capital Corporation 843,220,000
Hong Kong Securities Limited) (11,703,893,600 )
( ) (China (2012 30 )
Merchants Securities (HK) Co., 2,000,000,000
Limited) (27,760,000,000 )
(CIMB Securities
Limited)
( ) (CITIC (2012 25 )
Securities Brokerage (HK) Limited) 250,000,000
(3,470,000,000 )
(2012 29 )
301,951,240
(Citigroup Global Markets Asia (4,191,083,211 )
Limited)
CLSA (CLSA Limited)
(2012 12 )
( ) (Credit Suisse 530,902,000
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited) (7,368,919,760 )
(2012 )
(Deutsche Securities 1,264,089,200
Asia Limited) (17,545,558,096 )
( ) (Essence (2015 12 31 )
International  Securities (Hong 1,000,000,000
Kong) Limited) (13,880,000,000 )
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( )
(Goldman

Sachs (Asia) Securities Limited)

(2011 12 24
31,004,981
(3,345,819,956

( ) (Guotai
Junan  Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited)

(2015 12 31
4,700,000,000
(65,236,000,000

(Haitong
International Securities Company
Limited)

(2012
1,500,000,000
(20,820,000,000

( ) (J.P. Morgan
Broking (Hong Kong) Limited)

(2012
1,153,365,600
(16,008,714,528

(KGI Asia
Limited)

(Macquarie Bank Limited)

(2015 31
163,000,000
(11,240,480,000

(Merrill Lynch Far East
Limited)

(2011 12 19
17,000,000
(235,960,000

(Morgan
Stanley Hong Kong Securities
Limited)

( (2012 23
) (Nomura International 2.00
(Hong Kong) Limited) (27.76
3,200,000,000
(Oriental (2012
Patron Securities Limited) 20,000,000
(277,600,000
( ) (S6

Securities (HK) Limited)

(The
Hongkong and Shanghai  Banking
Corporation Limited)

(2012 12 18
58,968,707,252.5
(818, 485,656,665
10,233,500, 000
(1,101,124,600,000

UBS
(UBS Securities Hong Kong
Limited)

(2012 10 31
430,000,000
(5,968,400,000

( ) (Yuanta
Securities (Hong Kong) Company
Limited)

(2015 12 31
9,151,651,000
(32,762,910,580
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AP ( ) (AP Capital Management (Hong Kong) Limited) HK
(Bluefin HK Limited) CLSA (CLSA Limited) ( )
(Credit Suisse Securities (Hong Kong) Limited)
(Deutsche Securities Asia Limited) (Flow Traders Hong Kong Limited)
IMC (IMC Asia Pacific Limited)
(Optiver Trading Hong Kong Limited) ( ) (SG Securities (HK) Limited) UBS

(UBS Securities Hong Kong Limited)

AP ( ) AP Capital Management (Hong Kong) Limited
HK (Bluefin HK Limited) BNP ( ) (BNP Paribas Securities (Asia)
Limited) CLSA (CLSA Limited) ( ) (Credit Suisse
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited) (Deutsche Securities Asia
Limited) DRW (DRW Singapore Pte. Ltd.) (

) (Eclipse Options (HK) Limited) (Flow Traders Hong
Kong Limited) ( ) (Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited)
(Haitong International Securities Company Limited)
(Head & Shoulders Securities Limited) IMC (IMC Asia Pacific Limited)

(Optiver Trading Hong Kong Limited) ( )

(SG Securities (HK) Limited) (Tibra Trading Hong Kong Limited)
UBS (UBS Securities Hong Kong Limited) (Yue Kun

Research Limited)

*

AP (
) (AP Capital
Management (Hong Kong) Limited)

HK (Bluefin (2012 26 )
HK Limited) 6,170,000
(85,639,600 )
BNP ( (2015 12 31 )
) (BNP  Paribas 178,000,000
Securities (Asia) Limited) (20,708,520,000 )
CLSA (CLSA Limited)
(2012 12 )
( ) (Credit Suisse 530,902,000
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited) (7,368,919,760 )
(2012 )
(Deutsche Securities 1,264,089,200
Asia Limited) (17,545,558,096 )
DRW

(DRW Singapore Pte. Ltd.)
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( )
(Eclipse Options (HK)
Limited)

(Flow Traders Hong Kong
Limited)

( ) (Guotai
Junan  Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited)

(2015 12 31
4,700,000,000
(65,236,000, 000

(Haitong
International Securities Company
Limited)

(2012
1,500,000, 000
(20,820,000, 000

(Head &
Shoulders Securities Limited)

IMC
(IMC Asia Pacific Limited)

(2012 14
5,000,000
(69,400,000

(Optiver Trading
Hong Kong Limited)

(2012 16
23,500,000
(326,180,000

( ) (56
Securities (HK) Limited)

(Tibra Trading Hong
Kong Limited)

UBS
(UBS Securities Hong Kong
Limited)

(2012 10 31
430,000,000
(5,968,400, 000

(Yue Kun Research Limited)

(HK Conversion Agency Services Limited)

~— ~—

URJ
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HSBC (
)
( 29 ) (Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority) (Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance)
MPF HSBC ( )
HSBC

(HSBC Holdings plc)

(@
(b)

@ (b)

(Euro-clear Clearing System Limited)
(Clearstream Banking S.A.)

(The Office of Foreign Assets Control of the US
Department of the Treasury)(OFAC) OFAC

OFAC
OFAC OFAC
OFAC

HSBC OFAC

104
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CSOP FTSE CHINA A50 ETF

(A SUB-FUND OF CSOP ETF SERIES, AN UMBRELLA UNIT TRUST ESTABLISHED IN HONG
KONG)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
What we have audited

The financial statements of CSOP FTSE China A50 ETF (the Sub-Fund” ), a sub-fund of CSOP
ETF Series, set out on pages 9 to 29, which comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders for the year then
ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Sub-Fund as at 31 December 2019, and of its financial transactions and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“ HKFRSs” ) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“ HKICPA” ).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (* HKSAs” )
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Sub-Fund in accordance with the HKICPA"s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the* Code” ), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters

were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CSOP FTSE CHINA A50 ETF (CONTINUED)
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOP ETF SERIES, AN UMBRELLA UNIT TRUST ESTABLISHED IN HONG

KONG)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Existence and valuation of investments

The Sub-Fund®s investments as at 31
December 2019 were comprised of listed
equities of companies in the People®s
Republic of China, valued at
RMB15,497,514,898.

We focused on the existence and valuation
of the investments because the investments
represented the principal element of the
Sub-Fund®s net asset value.

Refer to Note 8 to the financial
statements.

We tested the existence of the Sub-Fund®s
holdings of investments by obtaining a
direct confirmation from the custodian and
checking the confirmation to the Sub-Fund®s
records. Based on the procedures we
performed, we found the Sub-Fund®s holdings
of investments to be in agreement with the
confirmation received.

We tested the valuation of the Sub-Fund®s
investments by comparing the pricing used
by the manager of the Sub-Fund to the
publicly available external pricing sources
as at 31 December 2019. We found no
material exceptions from our testing.

Other Information

The trustee and the manager (the“ Management” ) of the Sub-Fund are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor®s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report

in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR"S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CSOP FTSE CHINA A50 ETF (CONTINUED)

(A SUB-FUND OF CSOP ETF SERIES, AN UMBRELLA UNIT TRUST ESTABLISHED IN HONG
KONG)

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

The Management of the Sub-Fund is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
and for such internal control as the Management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the Sub-Fund is responsible for
assessing the Sub-Fund®s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Management either intends to liquidate the Sub-Fund or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Management of the Sub-Fund is required to ensure that the financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant disclosure
provisions of the Trust Deed dated 25 July 2012, as amended, (“ Trust Deed” ) and the
Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued by the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures Commission (the* SFC Code™ ).

Auditor”s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are required to assess whether the
financial statements of the Sub-Fund have been properly prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and the
Appendix E of the SFC Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®S REPORT

TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CSOP FTSE CHINA A50 ETF (CONTINUED)

(A SUB-FUND OF CSOP ETF SERIES, AN UMBRELLA UNIT TRUST ESTABLISHED IN HONG
KONG)

Auditor™s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Sub-Fund®s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management®s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Sub-
Fund®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor®s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor®s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Sub-Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Management with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Management, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor®s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®"S REPORT
TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF CSOP FTSE CHINA A50 ETF (CONTINUED)
(A SUB-FUND OF CSOP ETF SERIES, AN UMBRELLA UNIT TRUST ESTABLISHED IN HONG

KONG)

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure Provisions of the Trust Deed and the
Appendix E of the SFC Code

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and the

Appendix E of the SFC Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor®s report is
Josephine W.T. Kwan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 April 2020
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Independent auditor's report
To the Members of CSOP Asset Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CSOP Asset Management Limited (the "Company") and
its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 10 to 70, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give atrue and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor's report thereon
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the report of the directors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditor's report (continued)
To the Members of CSOP Asset Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as abody, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered materia if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of interna control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue asa going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent auditor's report (continued)
To the Members of CSOP Asset Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, anong other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
26 March 2020
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